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To be the leading business bank across East Africa, delivering excellent customer service through highly motivated Teams 
and a rewarding work enviroment. 

To facilitate growth and prosperity across East Africa.

Our Mission

Our Vision

Our Values
A Acting together in teamwork
 We shall work together in a cooperative and supportive manner to achieve our shared goals.

F Fostering trust and always professional
 We shall transact business in a knowledgeable, diligent and skillful manner while continuing to foster trustworthy relationships by being   
 proactive, professional and accountable at all times.

R Responsible to the wider community
 We shall partner with the communities in which we work in as a way of giving back to them.

I Integrity and honesty
 We shall seek honesty and display integrity in all we do.

C Customer oriented
 We shall continue to offer superior products by consistently getting things right and using our resources optimally to meet our customers’   
 needs.

A Agents for change and innovation
 We shall be agents for change and innovation in economic development by empowering our customers and staff.
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GROUP CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 

Economic Background

Kenya

More than any other period in the recent past, the year 2012 in 
Kenya witnessed a convergence of business and politics, in the 

run-up to the national elections the following March.

Against this background, it is relevant to commend the Kibaki era for 
the introduction of a new Constitution, greater freedom of speech, 
infrastructural development in the form of some important roads 
and highways, judicial reform, and subsidized primary education.  
At the same time, though, the unfinished agenda for the outgoing 
administration included the need for a major reduction in insecurity, 
the curbing of corruption, a resolution of the country’s divisive ethnic 
problems, and delivery on the promised police reforms.

Fortunately, the Kenyan private sector remained resilient and stable.  
This was helped by gradually–falling interest rates, particularly during 
the second half of the year.  This was made possible by the lowering 

of Central Bank of Kenya’s CBR to 11% p.a. during the year (and 
further to 9.5% p.a. in early January 2013).

The CBR decline itself was prompted by reduced inflation, 
which came down to 3.2% by December 2012 – as well 
as stability in the exchange rate of the Kenya Shilling, and 
an increase in the country’s foreign exchange reserves to 
around USD 5.4 billion (4.15 months of import cover) by the 
end of the year.

Kenya’s economic growth for 2012 as a whole was just 
under 4.5%.  While this is lower than the country’s capability 
and potential, even this figure was made possible by the 
banking sector (buoyed by an expansion into the East 



GROUP CHAIRMAN’S REPORT (continued)

Africa region) and by the communications 
industry, along with companies in the 
technology space.  Also deserving of mention 
is the oil and gas sector which benefitted from 
the oil discoveries in Northern Kenya and the 
successful exploration of offshore gas.

On the other hand, there were mixed fortunes 
for different components of the agricultural 
sector (tea, coffee, flowers, vegetables, and 
commodity crops).  Sales of manufacturing 
and retailing companies slowed down.  The 
automotive industry, too, was negatively 
impacted, and tourism did not record its 
brightest year, even as it looked ahead to 
better times in 2013 and beyond.

2012 came to an end against a backdrop 
of uncertainty, with hope for the future as 
the national elections drew closer.  The 
private sector maintained its good work, with 
prospects of further growth in the following 
year. For most segments of the economy, 
2012 closed on a note of cautious optimism.

Uganda
The macro-economic performance of 
Uganda in 2012 was described by the IMF 
as “satisfactory”.    Inflation dropped from 
the previous year’s 30% level to 5.5% by 
December 2012, even as GDP grew by around 
4% during the year.

Economic growth is projected to increase 
to 5.2% in 2013, on the assumption that 
business activity will revive, as will private and 
public sector investments.

However, as against Bank of Uganda’s 
lending rate of 12%, commercial banks have 
continued to maintain lending rates of around 
24% p.a. and to pursue a cautious lending 
policy because of credit default risks.  Also, 
a substantial portion of bank credit in 2012 
took the form of rollovers of existing loans, 
rather than new capital investment funding.

The need to restrain rising inflation 
necessitated these tight monetary conditions 
and high interest rates, but also resulted in 
some uncertainty in the business environment.

The exchange rate of the Uganda Shilling 
remained unstable throughout 2012, but 
increases in FDI levels in the oil exploration 
and tourism sectors helped to support the 
currency to an extent. For the immediate 
future, economic recovery will depend to a 
large extent on the Uganda Government’s 
management of any aid cut uncertainties, 
investor confidence, and oil resources.

Rwanda
The Rwandan economy in 2012 maintained 
its resilience, external global challenges 
notwithstanding, with a GDP growth of around 
7.5% during the year.  Inflation continued to 
decline, and the country’s macro-economic 
outlook remained favourable, despite 
concerns about the uncertainty of future 
donor aid flows.
Investments in 2012 exceeded USD 1 billion 
– mainly in Tourism, Energy, Construction, 
Real Estate, Mining, ICT, and Services.  FDI 
constituted a little over 10% of this amount.  

This is expected to increase, in view of 
Rwanda’s relatively positive business climate 
and its reasonably stable monetary and 
financial indicators. The country’s imports 
increased, taking the form mainly of capital 
and intermediary goods.  This has led to 
a trade imbalance, despite an increase in 
exports during 2012.

Financial Performance 
The Fina Bank Group recorded pre-tax profit 
for 2012 of Kes.601.3m, an increase of 27% 
over the corresponding figure for 2011.

The Group’s loan book grew by 19% over the 
previous year’s level, which reflected a balance 
between prudent credit risk management 
and the need for business growth.  The 
characteristics of each of its markets were 
given due consideration in the process.  Thus, 
Fina Bank Kenya continued its emphasis on 
the mid-corporate segment  with its relatively 
lower risks and need for both standard and 
differentiated products and services;  Fina 
Bank Rwanda’s business thrust was aligned 
to the retail and SME features of its banking 
market; and Fina Bank Uganda’s client 
segment consisted of smaller corporates and 
larger SMEs.

In view of the Group’s growth plans for 2013 
and beyond, new capital raising is under active 
consideration.

Board and Corporate Governance
Strong management and sound corporate 
governance are key to good business 
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GROUP CHAIRMAN’S REPORT (continued)
performance – now more than ever before 
– especially for institutions in the banking 
sector. The Fina Group’s aim has consistently 
been the achievement of global best practices 
in corporate governance.  In order to ensure 
that this objective is met, the Group has always 
endeavored to maintain strict compliance 
with regulatory guidelines on business and 
operational matters.  But beyond rules and 
policies, the Fina Group has always fostered 
and encouraged belief in, and commitment to, 
the highest standards of business ethics.

Social Responsibility  
The Group recognizes its Corporate Social 
Responsibility to the communities and 
environment in which it operates.  One aspect 
of this is the requirement to conduct itself with 
ethics, fairness, and transparency. Another 
aspect involves attention to the environment, 
being of service to the less fortunate in society 
while attending to the well-being of employees.
Against this background, Fina Bank supported 
a number of initiatives and organisations 
during the year, including the KAG Mathare 
Child Development Centre, the Albinism 
Foundation, Hope House Babies Centre, 
Uganda Cancer Institute, Rotary International 
for Polio Immunisation, and the Government 
of Rwanda’s ‘Girinika’ Scheme – to name but 
a few.

Human Talent
Fina Bank is well aware of the challenges that 
its employees face as it serves its customers 
and stakeholders in today’s environment.  
Regulatory requirements demand intensive 

training; cost and margin pressures demand 
greater productivity; the need for compliance 
demands increased accountability; product 
and service innovation demands continuous 
learning;  and systems and process changes 
demand adaptability and modification of work 
routine.

Throughout the year 2012, my colleagues 
in Fina Bank have responded admirably to 
these various demands that have been made 
of them.  Escalating challenges mean that 
we have to continue to attract, nurture, and 
retain talent.  This necessitates a healthy and 
vibrant work environment.  

Our strategy for human capital development 
encourages a performance culture, supported 
by training, performance evaluation, 
compensation, and promotions. Our staff 
members remain committed to the highest 
standards of service delivery, integrity, 
team work, professionalism, and customer 
orientation.

Appreciation
In conclusion, and on behalf of our Board of 
Directors, I offer my gratitude to all our clients 
and business partners who have supported 
us consistently, and without whose loyalty, 
understanding, and encouragement we would 
not have been where we are today.  We look 
forward to the continuation of our mutually-
beneficial relationship with them in the years 
to come.

I also have pleasure in expressing my 
appreciation for the guidance and 
support extended to the Fina Group by the 
Governments of Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda, 
and by our regulators in these three countries 
– Central Bank of Kenya, Bank of Uganda, 
and Banque Nationale de Rwanda.

Commendation is due also to the management 
and staff of Fina Bank in Kenya, Uganda, and 
Rwanda, for their unwavering loyalty, untiring 
effort, and unflagging dedication.

In addition, I offer my gratitude to our 
other business partners – including our 
correspondent banks, external auditors, and 
service providers, for their support to our 
group.

And finally, I remain indebted to the Group’s 
shareholders for continuing to believe in Fina 
Bank’s vision for growth and development, 
and to my colleagues on the board for their 
consistent and invaluable guidance, time, 
support, and expertise to our Group entities.

I conclude on this note, confident of an even 
more successful and rewarding future for the 
Fina Group.

Dhanu Chandaria
Group Chairman
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT KENYA

It is my privilege to present to you the financial performance of Fina Bank 
Kenya in 2012.

The year was an eventful one, providing a stimulating mix of challenges 
and opportunities.  The start of 2012 saw inflation at 21%, having risen 
all the way from 4% the previous year.  The Kenya Shilling, too, began 
the year on a slow recovery path from its historic low of Shs.107 to the 
US Dollar in October 2011.  Consequently, Central Bank of Kenya (CBK) 
had pitched its CBR (Central Bank Rate) at 18% p.a., with the objective of 
curbing bank lending, a major source of money supply and hence inflation.  
Commercial banks fell in line, raising their own lending rates.

By the time the year came to an end, the Kenya Shilling had regained 
much of its lost ground (the uncertainties of the forthcoming elections 

notwithstanding), although the weakened Sterling and Euro made the 
Kenyan currency look somewhat stronger than it really was.

The Shilling’s recovery owed itself partly to high domestic interest 
rates that attracted foreign funds, and also partly to the inflow 
of diaspora money at a healthy average rate of around USD 100 
million a month.  Improvements in the export of tea and coffee also 
helped boost the country’s foreign currency reserves – keeping 
them at the level of four months of import cover, even in the face 
of CBK intervention in the foreign exchange market to limit major 
currency fluctuations with the use of the country’s forex reserves.

This gradual improvement during the year of Kenya’s macro-
economic fortunes was reflected in Fina Bank Kenya’s own financial 
performance, with the second half of 2012 recording figures more 

than twice as good as those of the first half.  Overall, gross loans 
grew 19% over 2011 levels - higher than the banking sector’s loan 

growth of 12.5% during the year.  Operating profit at Shs.347.9m 
for 2012 recorded a 12% increase over its 2011 level.  Non-fund 
income, too, saw a 14% growth, ending the year at Shs.395.2m.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT KENYA (continued)

At the same time, operating expenses 
increased by only 7%, even lower than the 
15% expense growth recorded in 2011.

The year’s results thus represented an all-
round improvement in the Bank’s performance 
over 2011, which itself recorded significantly 
better results than 2010 had done.

Fina Bank Kenya’s continued commitment 
to higher credit-quality standards manifested 
itself in a drop both in its NPA (non-performing 
assets) ratio and in its absolute volume of 
NPAs.  While the NPA ratio dropped from 
nearly 8% in 2011 to 5.5% in 2012, the NPA 
portfolio itself shrunk during the same period 
by 15% to Shs.511.7m.

The growth in the Bank’s customer deposits 
was relatively modest at 11%.  This was 
deliberate, in view of our comfortable liquidity 
situation throughout the year, and the high 
deposit interest rates that prevailed through 
most of 2012.  To address the issue of high cost 
of funds, the Bank restructured its Business-
Liabilities activities with a view to augmenting 
its low-cost deposits over a broader customer 
base.  The drive for new current accounts and 
savings accounts continued into 2012, and 
was bolstered by increasing efforts to solicit 
term deposits at reasonable interest rates 
that benefitted both the Bank and its deposit 
customers.

The shift in the Bank’s business strategy 
that had been initiated in 2011 was put into 

effect during the year 2012.  Thus, Fina Bank 
in Kenya transferred its main emphasis from 
the SME segment to mid-sized companies, 
reinventing itself in the process as a business 
bank. Credit quality witnessed a significant 
improvement with the Bank’s move into a 
market segment that was more resilient 
to economic fluctuations.  In addition, this 
segment, with its greater demand for trade 
finance and transactional products, also 
helped to increase sales of the Bank’s non-
fund products and services.

Even as it shifted focus, the Bank maintained 
close ties with its traditional customers, in 
respect of both Assets and Liabilities.  This 
involved a mix of personalized service, 
continued loyalty, customized products, and 
close contact.  These attributes have always 
been a part of the Fina Bank experience, and 
in 2012, we ensured that they continued to 
be the cornerstone of the Bank’s operating 
philosophy.

With 2012 now behind us, the expectations 
and challenges of 2013 need to be met with 
greater dexterity and renewed determination.  
Our objectives continue to be ever-improving 
customer service, efficient processes and 
procedures, strict compliance with the 
letter and spirit of regulations, ongoing 
enhancement and visibility of the Fina Brand, 
innovative products that meet the market’s 
expectations, sound risk management 
practices, and employee involvement and 
development – all leading to increased profits 

and sustainable business growth.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) remains 
our way of giving back to the society and to 
the communities in which we operate, and 
also supporting the less fortunate.  In 2012, 
our staff members engaged themselves in 
a range of CSR initiatives; these included 
financial support to the  Albinism Foundation 
and KAG Mathare Child Development Centre, 
among other beneficiaries.

Our business focus in 2013 and beyond will 
continue to be on the mid-corporate segment, 
supported by customer-centric business 
banking and treasury offerings, with our 
forthcoming e-banking solutions acting as 
enablers.  This is in keeping with our vision 
and strengths, and with the opportunities 
that the year ahead is expected to bring us.

Our customers, current and future, constitute 
the life-blood of our business, and it is our 
responsibility to ensure an innovative and 
appropriate approach to meet their evolving 
requirements by way of updated banking 
systems, relevant products and services, and 
continuously-improving client service quality.

I take this opportunity to express my gratitude 
– and that of my colleagues in the Bank – to 
our Customers, for their loyalty and continued 
patronage.  My appreciation also goes out 
to our Shareholders for their patience and 
commitment to our Strategy, to the Directors 
on our board whose unwavering support 
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and guidance have continued to inspire 
us, to our regulators Central Bank of Kenya 
whose invaluable oversight, assistance and 
encouragement have been key to our progress 
so far, to our correspondent banks and other 
business partners, and to the communities 
that we have the privilege of serving.

I also wish to thank my colleagues in the Bank 
for their focus, energy, and determination to 
succeed.  Without them, our successes in 
2012 would not have been possible, nor can 
our ambitions for the future be realized.

We remain indebted to you all, and look forward 
to your continued support and goodwill towards 
jointly building the institution envisaged in 
our Corporate Vision – the preferred regional 
business bank, Fina Bank Kenya.

Rajesh Kapoor
Acting Managing Director 
(From 26th April 2013) 
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT UGANDA

I take this opportunity to present to you the Fina Bank Uganda Limited  
performance for the year 2012.

The year 2012 was marked with opportunities and challenges 
stemming from the harsh economic environment, due to several 
internal and external factors.

During the year under review, we commenced business on a good 
footing with an adequate capital base, leadership and operating 
structures in place. Fina Bank’s well known brand across East 
Africa has not only promoted good business ethics and corporate 
governance, but also allowed us to increasingly tap into regional 
businesses setting up in the Uganda market. This has enabled the 
Bank to steadily and consistently attract quality business and goodwill 
in the Ugandan market.

On the other hand, the year 2012 remained as one of the most 
challenging in the short existence of Fina Bank in Uganda. Our 
business was affected to a great extent due to extremely adverse 
market conditions, high rate of interest, challenges on debt recovery 
and a sluggish economic environment.

The challenges of 2011 and the early part of 2012 provided good 
learning lessons to the Bank in a new market.

As the Bank matured from its start-up phase, Management has 
spent significant efforts in 2012, to enable the Bank continue 
its pace of growth in deposits and loans.  A major part of 
this effort was directed towards our employees, in terms of 
staff development through training and mentoring by senior 
management, primarily to address the needs of a more mature 

and growing Bank. Additional resources were brought from the 
outside where nessesary. Specific attention was paid to ensure 

that the Bank is prepared to cater for its increasing client 
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base in the Corporate and Business Banking 
market, in line with the vision of the Fina Bank 
Group.
 
Developments in 2013
Since the beginning of the current year 2013, 
the country’s economy is slowly but steadily 
showing signs of improvement.  The inflation 
is under control. The global economic outlook 
has also witnessed some improvements. 

On the home front, the Bank received 
additional funds for capital infusion 
amounting to Ugx 16.5 Bn, during February 
2013, complying with the directions of Bank 
of Uganda whereby all the Bank’s operating 
in Uganda are required to maintain minimum 
unimpaired capital funds of Ugx 25 Billion with 
effect from 1st March 2013. With the further 
injection of additional capital of Ugx 16.5 Bn 
from our share holders, Fina Bank Uganda is  
fully compliant on the front of Capital. 

With these developments and focussed 
attention on all the areas, the Bank is poised 
to witness significant turnaround in top line as 
well as bottom line in its operations.

Acknowledgments
I place on record our deep sense of appreciation 
and gratitude for the continuous support and 
guidance from our regulators Bank of Uganda. 
We also acknowledge with sincere thanks the 
active role played by Government of Uganda 
for providing an enabling environment. 

I also take this opportunity to express 
our sincere thanks and gratitude to our 
shareholders, the Board of Directors and other 
stake holders for their continuous guidance 
and support.

I would also like to place on record our sincere 
thanks and gratitude to our Customers and 
other business partners for their loyalty and 
continued patronage. Further, my sincere 
thanks go to all staff members, for their 
support and co-operation in the smooth 
operations and Management of the Bank.

Pooran Chand Kukreja
Acting Managing Director
(From December 2012)



CHAIRMAN’S REPORT RWANDA

Despite the turbulent geopolitical situations in the diaspora and 
the suspension of aid by some donors, Rwanda’s economic 

performance in all monetary indicators came out strong in 2012. 
The country experienced an economic growth of 7.7% and exchange 
depreciation of less than 5%.

Central Bank projections indicate high level of optimism with 
marginally lower growth indicators for the year 2013, as three out of 
four Rwandese have access to financial services.

Despite significant industry-wide headwinds, the Bank showed good 
growth in size and strength parameters during 2012. The Deposits 
and Net Loan Book grew by over 19% and 27% to record Rwf 58 Billion 
and 41 Billion respectively. Profit Before Tax (PBT) of Rwf 1.88 Billion 
for 2012, with more than 70% growth, is commendable.  Detailed 
financial review is covered by the Managing Director in his report. 

The Board is pleased to note that the Bank has opened four new 
outlets and two off-site ATMs since the last report. As alluded 
by the Managing Director in his report, a number of new 
initiatives have been triggered in retail banking.

We have very actively associated in community services, 
both physical and financial, under Corporate Social 
Responsibility. The Bank has also contributed to Agaciro 
(dignity) fund of the Government of Rwanda. In 2012, 
the Bank was first runner-up in Financial Reporting in 

Rwanda. With the active intervention of the Government 
of Rwanda, the issue of a major contentious loan 

asset was amicably solved. 

I take this opportunity to thank the 
Government of 

Rwanda for its 
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(continued)

continued association and the Central Bank 
for active engagement with the board when 
needed. Strong support from the Government 
and the regulator helped us in restructuring 
the capital base of the Bank, consolidating it 
fully into its parent, Fina Bank Limited (Kenya), 
which will facilitate focused governance going 
forward. Our local Non Executive Directors 
play a significant role with their valuable input 
and macro updates facilitating the board to 
make informed decisions.

Globally a few green shoots of economic 
indicators are being observed, but significant 
positive portends are still awaited. Further, 
competitive space is crowding out in Rwanda. 
Board is appreciative that management is 
aware of external and internal challenges 
and has been working on the board approved 
Medium Term Strategy for 2012 – 2015.

I congratulate staff and management of the 
Bank for the good work done so far and wish 
them all success in realizing the strategic 
objectives in the years to come.

Macharia Njeru
Chairman
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT RWANDA

In 2012, the Rwandan economy recorded one of the best 
performances in sub-Saharan Africa. As per final estimates, the 

economy grew by 7.7% in 2012.  Export earnings went up by 22% 
to USD 678 Million and foreign investment estimates show a 50% 
increase in the year. But for the geo-political situation in the region, 
and resultant actions by some development partners of Rwanda, 
growth numbers would have been better.

During 2012, the local banking industry experienced full year 
operations of three upgraded MFI banks and an East African 
bank, which entered the market in end 2011. The Rwandan 
banking industry has fourteen players now, save MFIs and SACCOs. 
Government reports suggest that 72% of Rwandese are now 
accessing financial services (42% from formal sector). This is 50% 
growth in the last four years (100% for formal sector). Competitive 
space has become intense and crowded. Macro economic factors 
like supply side issues of foreign exchange, liquidity stress, increased 
cost of funds due to competition from the Government to mobilize 
deposits from the same parastatal sources and stretched receipts 
from counterparties did throw industry-wide challenges in 2012. 
The Severity of these was more pronounced in the second semester.

Financial Review
Despite a discouraging scenario as above, it is pleasant to 

note that Fina Bank Rwanda’s performance showed 
significant growth, as it did in the previous years, and 

accordingly I present the financial appraisal of the 
Bank for 2012.

Total business grew by over 22% to above 
Rwf 99 Billion in the year. Deposits 
recorded growth of above 19% to Rwf 58 
Billion, and the loan book grew by 27% 
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT RWANDA (continued)
to Rwf 41 Billion.  Profit before Tax for 2012 
was Rwf 1.88 Billion (2011; Rwf 1.11 Billion), 
a 70% growth over the previous year.  

In respect of efficiency, in 2012, Net Interest 
Margin, Return on Assets (PBT based) and 
Return on Equity (PAT based) respectively 
recorded 9.57%, 2.97% and 17.60% as against 
8.08%, 1.90% and 10.14% of the previous 
year. Cost to Income Ratio improved to 69.59% 
in 2012 from 73.20% in 2011.

Spreads continued to be under immense 
pressure as were in the previous year. 
Migration of some ‘tariff based’ services into 
‘free’ services due to introduction of Rwanda 
Integrated Payment Processing System 
(RIPPS) and competition driven moderation 
of interest and commission in corporate 
commitment relationships, resulted in thin 
margins impacting fee based income, despite 
impressive business growth. However, Foreign 
Exchange income recorded a robust increase 
of about 31% and; net Fee & Commission 
income grew by 14%, reflecting active treasury 
and reasonable trade finance operations.

With respect to Deposits, the Government 
became an aggressive competitor in the 
second semester of 2012 and customers 
preferred to place funds in Term Deposits (TDs), 
given the increased interest rate scenario. Low 
cost Current Account and Savings Account 
(CASA) deposits grew by 14% to Rwf 35 Billion, 
whereas Term Deposits grew by about 40%. The 
incremental deposit costs had to be absorbed, 

due to market imperatives, impacting interest 
spreads. Nonetheless, robust growth in loan 
assets, improved asset quality and prudent 
management of investment assets, sometimes 
through arbitrage, helped us return a healthy 
net interest income (NII) growth during the 
year. Overall growth of NII for the year was 
about 35%, to Rwf 4.7 Billion.

Operating expenses went up by over 21% to Rwf 
5.7 Billion. But for the continued strategy on 
CARE (Cost of funds, Asset Quality, Recoveries 
and Expense), overheads would have been still 
higher, given the ongoing branch expansion 
and high complement of Direct Sales Officers 
(DSOs) deployed during the year. Contextual 
to note that with a growth of above 31%, to 
Rwf 7.7 Billion, operating income more than 
compensated the increased overheads, 
resulting in an improved bottom line.

Business Banking
During the year, net credit to corporate and 
SME sector recorded a robust growth of 32% 
to reach Rwf 37 Billion. Overall disbursement 
to these segments was over Rwf 18 Billion.  
In respect to retail lending, the portfolio 
stabilized at Rwf 4 Billion, despite additional 
disbursements of about Rwf 3 Billion, due to 
shorter tenor of the loans. Business growth, 
supported by negotiated settlements, close 
follow up with counterparties of our principals 
and better monitoring through Loan Review 
Mechanism facilitated maintaining quality 
of portfolio under this segment, resulting in 
reduction in NPL ratio by more than 150 bps 

during the year to reach around 6.5% by year-
end.

Electronic / Alternative Channels
During the year, licenses were obtained for 
Xpress and Western Union Money Transfer 
Services. Central Bank’s permission was 
obtained to rollout Agency Banking Services, 
for which initial infrastructure has been put in 
place. The service will be operationalized after 
proper pilot tests and training. In the year, 
mobile and internet banking products were 
introduced to our discerning customers. The 
Bank is in advanced stage of obtaining license 
for insurance broking.

The Bank has obtained VISA acquiring license 
and MasterCard principal agent license in 
the year. Both are expected to be available to 
customers in the first Semester of 2013.

Retail Banking Initiatives
In Q1 of 2012, the Bank launched target 
specific products; Fina Aguka (growth) and 
Fina Sugira (economic development) for low 
wage earners and women entrepreneurs 
respectively.

With a view to reinforce efforts of field staff in 
business development, a number of embedded 
Direct Sales Officers were taken on board.
ATM Cards issued, expanded from 
approximately 10,000 to approximately 15,000 
during the year.  ATM network, including two 
off-site ATMs, increased to 17.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT RWANDA (continued)

Branch Network
In the first quarter of 2012, we opened 
guichets (sub-branches) in Kaborondo and 
Kayonza. As this report is being written, two 
more guichets – Kicukiro and Kimironko (both 
in Kigali) – stand operationalized raising the 
branch network to 17.

Technology
Last year it was reported that the bank is in 
the process of acquiring a versatile and robust 
new Core Banking Software (CBS). Given the 
hurdles encountered at the time of firming up 
the deal with the provider, forcing the bank to 
look for alternative providers, migration has 
been delayed and it is expected that a new 
CBS will be operational before mid next year. 

In the interim the in-house IT team has 
been developing all need based projects 
facilitating the Bank’s rollout of new products 
and services, including on-line tax payments 
(eTax).

Risk - Frauds and Electronic Crimes
Importance of effective Risk Management 
can hardly be over-emphasized. During the 
year, the industry was hit by a spate of forged 
cheques and electronic frauds. However our 
bank could buck the trend due to some timely 
and tangible actions. 

The Risk Department has been strengthened 
with the induction of an experienced and 
globally trained officer as Head of Risk. All 
operational staff members were trained on 

risk aspects of processes, ALM and KYC. Risk 
champions have also been embedded in 
all branches and departments. Risk related 
checklists were developed for each functional 
area and additional control and due diligence 
layers were introduced.

Human Resources
In line with Institutional objectives, every 
staff member of the bank attended external 
training programs on customer service, team 
building and ergonomics during the year. 

Additionally, almost 50% of staff had 
undergone training programs on financial 
analysis, IFRS, international card payments, 
leadership and advanced bank-wide risk 
management programs etc., conducted 
by domestic and international external 
facilitators. 

With a view to nurture and ring-fence in-house 
talent, a high powered Talent Management 
Committee was constituted. During the year, 
35 staff members were internally promoted 
to various positions.

Strategy
In January 2012, the Bank adopted the board 
approved comprehensive Medium Term 
Strategy (2012-15). The strategy is based on 
four pillars of robust business development, 
efficient business process, effective business 
support and continuous CARE management. 

Laurels
In 2012 the Bank was first runner up in East 
African Financial Reporting (FiRe) awards for 
Rwanda.

Outlook for 2013
Annual general average inflation was bridled at 
3.9% by December 2012, against high levels 
of 8.3% in December 2011. GDP growth for 
the year 2012 is slated to be 7.7%, almost the 
same as that of the previous year. As per World 
Bank reports, Rwanda’s economic outlook is 
promising despite global uncertainties. 

Agricultural growth remains positive due to 
prioritized public investments and; trade 
and retail will be buoyant. Overall growth for 
2013 is estimated at above 7%. However, 
financial sector is expected to grow at a 
slower pace. Nonetheless the Central Bank, 
while estimating growth of similar levels of 
7.6%, is hopeful of containing inflation to less 
than 7.5% in 2013. The Governor’s appraisal 
for 2013 is very positive and we share the 
optimism, with a caveat that continuation of 
the extant standoff with some donor partners 
may have severe financial impacts resulting 
in decelerated growth and income at macro, 
industry and Banking levels.

Acknowledgments
Government of Rwanda continues to be a 
shareholder and actively encourages the 
Bank’s strategic initiatives. 
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
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I place on record a deep sense of appreciation 
and gratitude to the Government of Rwanda. 
The Central Bank’s (BNR) positive and 
proactive stance in assisting and guiding the 
Bank is warmly acknowledged.

Our Board members are always willing to 
support and guide management and staff. 
Their intense engagement in policy formulation 
and strategic direction is duly acknowledged. 
Management immensely benefits out of the 
local knowledge of Rwandese directors. 

Our customers are forthright in their 
feedback, supportive in our efforts to excel 
and unrestrained in their patronage. I thank 
them on behalf of the board, management 
and staff. 

I also thank all our correspondents, 
counterparties and other stakeholders for 
their continued association with the Bank.

Fina Family
The strongest asset of the Bank is the human 
capital. 

The high context culture of our staff, within and 
without, makes them emotionally connected 
to the Bank which turns into effective 
contributors. I salute their commitment and 
hard work.

During the year, staff members participated in 
a number of Umuganda (community service) 
activities and CSR programs and generously 
contributed to Agaciro (dignity) fund raised by 
the Government to fund development projects 
in Rwanda.

Rao G. Balivada
Managing Director
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At Fina Bank, we are committed to our 
staff members who are important and 
valuable; our customers whose experience 
to excellent service remains our focal goal 
and our CSR initiatives which continue to 
remain ethical, fair, and transparent.



Our Diversity in CSR 
Programmes



CSR REPORT KENYA

Dr. Prabha Choksey
Consultant Ophthalmologist
Founding Trustee
Albinism Foundation of East Africa

My  journey with people with albinism 
started in 2008, when one of my patients 

adopted a child with albinism from a local 
children’s home, who had been dumped in a 
pit-latrine by his biological mother. 

She found his eyes to be rather peculiar; they 
were “reddish” in color and in constant, rapid, 
horizontal movement. Worried about whether 
he could see, she brought him in to my private 
practice so that I could examine him. 

I explained to her that this was normal for 
people with albinism, and she shouldn’t get 
worried about his vision because most live a 
normal life with adequate vision. An article 
on my patient and her adopted son, which, 
surprisingly, also included my practice, was 
written by a local magazine; the mention of my 
name was prompted by a question that asked 

where she takes her son for eye consultations. 
Through a simple question and answer, a good 
cause was added to my life.

The editorial director of that magazine 
approached me to write an article on albinism. 
Through doing my research on albinism in 
Africa, it was very disturbing to find out that 
information on vision of persons with albinism 
was minimal. 

It was then that I decided to conduct a 
personal research, where I would examine 
ten people with albinism, to learn more about 
their eye-sight. With these ten cases, I was 
shocked to find out that some had very high 
refractive errors, which were never corrected. 
Out of the ten, again, nine had never been 

to an Ophthalmologist and were not aware 
about the potential of their sight. While Kenya 
has given the world its first high court judge, 
Hon. Lady Justice Mumbi Ngugi, more than 
half of children with albinism are sent to blind 
schools largely due to lack of knowledge about 
albinism and sight, ignorance, or myths that 
ultimately lead to neglect. This challenged me 
to go even further and find out what I could do 
about changing the perception that people had 
regarding persons with albinism.

Eight individuals, myself included, established 
a foundation call Albinism Foundation of East 
Africa in 2008; and, at the time we were doing 
so, there were myriad myths about albinism. 
Some of these myths were, and in some parts 
still are: A child with albinism is a curse to the 
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family; persons with albinism never die; body 
parts of persons with albinism have special 
powers, hence, if you buy a body part then 
you’ll be successful; if you have cancer in a 
particular organ, all you have to do is get an 
organ from persons with albinism, and you’ll 
get cured; if you have HIV, and you have sexual 
intercourse with a person with albinism, you’ll 
get cured. In Kenya, 60-70% of children 
with albinism live with single parents, or 
grandparent, in abject poverty. What’s even 
more shocking is, from an Ophthalmological 
perspective, 70-80% of these children are 
sent to schools for the blind.

Every founding trustee had their contribution 
and mine was offering my Ophthalmological 
services to children with albinism for free. In 
turn, a trustee of our foundation offered to 
buy prescription glasses for all the children I 
saw. Thus far, all this has been made possible 
by people who now understand what we are 
doing, and have joined us in this collaborative 
effort of supporting persons with albinism. 
To this point, through this program, we have 
been able to see and help 550 people with 
albinism.

Correcting the vision of persons with albinism 
is very important, because, in Kenya, 70% of 
them are extremely short-sighted; 22% are 
long-sighted; and, the remaining may have 
astigmatism. What people need to understand 
about short-sightedness is that the child may 
not see far, but they can read books because 
they are close to them. That’s why these 

children should not be sent to schools for the 
blind, and made to learn in braille. The legal 
definition of blindness is vision less than 
20/200 in each eye. I am happy to say that 
97% of persons with albinism, whom I have 
seen, are well above that bracket. They are 
not blind. According to my studies, and my 
knowledge, Africa is the only continent that 
sends children with albinism to schools for 
the blind. We are working hard to make sure 
that our society is totally knowledgeable about 
albinism: That’s the only way that we can 
suffocate the stigma attached to it.

Once it was established that children with 
albinism could attend regular schools, the 
hurdle that we were faced with was ensuring 
that these children could attend these 
schools without interruptions due to financial 
constraints. We have been successful in doing 
so, and we are very appreciative of all the 
philanthropists who have, and are, making 
this effort easier for us. 

One of our long-time partners, Fina Bank, 
who came in two years after the inception 
of the foundation, continue to contribute 
selflessly by sponsoring some of our children 
to go to school, and funding a number of 
older persons with albinism who are pursuing 
entrepreneurship. 

In addition, all our financial affairs are handled 
by Fina Bank because their NGO account has 
more to offer to our Foundation. Every shilling 
counts and we have to be accountable for 

every shilling that is donated to us; therefore, 
operating an account devoid of unnecessary 
fees has really helped us channel these funds 
to a fruitful cause.

As much as what we do, and what you can do, 
changes the lives of those living with albinism, 
it changes your life even more. By eradicating 
the stigma attached to albinism, we are not 
only changing lives: We are saving lives.

CSR REPORT KENYA (continued)
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CSR REPORT KENYA (continued)

palliative care.

Palliative care is specialised care for people 
with serious illnesses. It does not matter what 
your diagnosis is; our job is to offer relief from 
the pain and symptoms of the illness, and all 
that is affected by your diagnosis, not only your 
physical, mental, and emotional state, but your 
family members too, who are also affected by 
your state. 

In addition to taking care of patients with life-
limiting illnesses – illnesses that can cause 
death – Thika Hospice also does advocacy 
and training, especially on cancer because we 
have seen an increase in the number of lives 
it claims per day: 60. There are three ways 

that we provide care to our patients: They can 
come in; we can visit them at their homes; or, 
if they are admitted in hospital, we can visit 
them there.

The lack of medicine during the first few weeks 
of the hospice didn’t deter me from seeing 
patients. I would write prescriptions for my 
patients and ask them to get the drugs from 
chemists, but I was able to conduct counseling 
sessions for the patients and their relatives. 

As the number of patients grew, I decided to 
hire a nurse to help me because not seeing 
a patient was not an option for me. Suddenly, 
the 9ft X 9ft space that we ran our hospice in 
became cramped.

Eunice Njeri Wachira
Founder and Director
Thika Hospice

My background in Nursing, and training in 
palliative care, availed an opportunity 

for me to work at the Nairobi Hospice. For the 
few years I worked there, I saw innumerable 
people, most of whom were old, coming all the 
way to Nairobi from Thika, for palliative care. 
This, along with my mother dying from cancer, 
prompted me to do something about that. 

I approached a Dr. Mwangi of Thika Level 5 
Hospital, and shared with him my observations, 
with a solution that was inspired by the 
recurring concerns looping in my mind. He was 
kind enough to listen to my proposal, and did 
not waste any time in giving us some space 
for us to set up our facility within the hospital 
premises. In January, 2010, we opened the 
doors of Thika Hospice to all those seeking 
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CSR REPORT KENYA (continued)
Outside our office is a tree that might be as 
old as independent Kenya or, perhaps, older. 
With its branches stretching wide and far, the 
leaves have an abundance of space to spread 
their green. We became the beneficiaries’ of 
this gigantic blessing whose shade provided 
a second office for us to see multiple patients 
concurrently.

While still in this transitory period, father to 
a Fina Bank employee came to our hospice 
for some medical attention. He liked what we 
were doing, and told some of the Fina Bank 
employees in the Thika branch about us. It 
was at this point that our partnership with 
Fina Bank commenced.

We got a visit from representatives of Fina 
Bank, who wanted to find out more about 
our hospice. Soon after, they asked what 
we needed the most, and they delivered. 
We received cartons of the much needed 
drugs that would enable us to provide a 
comprehensive treatment. It also showed by 
results and, as our patients now got better, 
our reputation and popularity also grew.

Through other well-wishers, and again, Fina 
Bank, the expansion of our hospice was 
made possible when we erected a tent next 
to the tree that had served us so well for a 
few months. The thought of having a housing 
structure, where we could see our patients, 
came to mind when we became cognizant of 
the fact that seeing our patients under the 
tree was contributing to the stigmatization 

that some of them faced.

 As this new space, which we divided into four 
consulting rooms, enabled us to accommodate 
more patients, it also provided a safe haven in 
which none of the patients felt stigmatized.

Quite recently, we went through yet another 
expansion process where we decided to 
increase the initial 9ft X 9ft space that we 
occupied when we began this initiative, and 
made it an 18ft X 18ft space that now serves 
as our office. All the administrative duties are 
conducted there, while the tent is solely for 
patients.

With great conviction, I am proud to say that 
Fina Bank has been our greatest contributor 
and partner. Most of the medicine that we 
have, and every piece of furniture in our 
property, were all donated by them. Moreover, 
they opened a bank account for us. Without 
Fina Bank, Thika Hospice would not be where 
it is today.

Looking further down the road, we would like 
to transform Thika Hospice into a modern 
hospice, and the hospice of choice in Kenya. 
Other than offering palliative care, we would 
also like to offer respite care in the near 
future, whereby we can host the patient for a 
few weeks, so that the family can get a break.

In 2010, we saw 90 new patients; in 2011, 137 
new patients; in 2012, 164 new patients. The 
number of new cases at the end of 2013 will 

be much higher because our patients come 
from Thika, Muranga, Kiambu, and Matuu. 
As for the future that I’m dreaming of: I’m not 
too worried about it because our partners, 
both old and new, will help make it possible. 
We  are sure Fina Bank will be there with us to 
share that future.



CSR REPORT KENYA (continued)

Jane Nuthu
Founder and Director
Mathare Child Development 
Centre

My husband, Rev. Peter Nuthu, and 
I founded the Mathare Children 

Development Centre in 1995, when 12 
orphaned boys living in the streets came to our 
church to offer cleaning services in exchange 
for something to eat. 

This became a trend whereby, every Saturday, 
the boys would come to help us in cleaning the 
church compound. With the number increasing 
every Saturday, we felt that it was not enough to 
simply feed the children. We began counseling 
sessions for them, and later added informal 
education and vocational/skills training. 

What was a weekend routine became a daily 
commitment for us to the children by 1999. 
Over the last 18 years, the program has grown 

from the 12 boys, to the current number which 
is 1156 children.

Mathare Child Development Centre offers 
solace and education to the less fortunate, 
orphans, and “at high risk” children in the 
Mathare area, and beyond. Those children 
who are truly orphaned and “at high risk”, stay 
in our dormitories; most of whom haven’t slept 
on a bed before. 

During school holidays, we look for stable 
families that can accommodate them. We’ve 
had children who’ve been raped by their 
fathers, to children who have been “sold” off 
by their parents to become house-helps. We 
try to change the card that life has dealt them 

by giving them a life with a promising future.

Our partners, well-wishers and friends, both 
international and local, are credited for the 
ongoing success and longevity of our program. 

In 2006, Fina Bank joined our list of partners 
when they heard that we were conducting 
circumcision for some of our boys. They came 
with eggs and bread. When they heard that 
we were having a walk to raise funds to build 
our boarding and educational facilities, they 
came along and contributed funds towards the 
realisation of this project. 

Our relationship with them has grown, and 
their relationship with our children is a unique 
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CSR REPORT KENYA (continued)

one because they take the time to come and 
visit our children. It’s always easy for one to 
help from afar, but their visits are solely for the 
purpose of engaging our children; a gesture 
that shows they care about them. Whenever 
they come, which they often do, they always 
bring food and clothing for our children, which 
are basic necessities for humanity, but much 
needed amenities to our children; however, 
the most important out of these is the 
invaluable time they spend with our children. 
You can never place value on time spent 
because it is priceless; the priceless gift that 
most of our orphaned children would all love 
to share with their parents, and one that we 
try, indefatigably, to give them.

Fina Bank’s latest partnership contribution to 
us came in the form of a greenhouse towards 
the end of last year. This has now introduced 
a multi-pronged sustainable approach to our 
program, where we can now grow our own 
food for consumption. 

As our farming skills are sharpened through 
insight from our greenhouse farmer who’ll 
be with us for 5 years, courtesy of Fina Bank, 
we are aiming to cultivate an inundation 
of the vegetables we’ll be growing, which 
we can sell and plough back the proceeds 
into our program. Additionally, through this 
greenhouse project, our children will also be 
learning productive farming skills and also 
gain some business acumen.

As we aim to educate 2000 children 
simultaneously, we greatly appreciate, and 
would like to thank, all those who have made 
our journey possible thus far, as we hope that, 
just like Fina Bank, they’ll be with us for the 
long-haul. We are also appealing to anyone 
who wishes to make this dream come true, to 
please do so.

Our children need all the help that’s out there. 
Together, we can help them become the 
leaders who will transform every inch of space 
that they occupy, in the future, for the better.
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CSR REPORT KENYA (continued)

Fina Bank Donates towards Hope 
Children’s Home and the Cluster 
Foundation

improving the quality of life for persons with 
paralysis. As a hub of hope, the foundation 
partners with various organisations who help 
them achieve their goals.

2012 also marked the year where Fina Bank 
supported the cluster foundation in improving 
the quality of life for persons living with 
paralysis.
The Bank donated old news papers and 
magazines that the foundation uses to make 
environmental friendly pencils that they brand 
and sell to corporate institutions.

The money raised is goes to take care of the 
needs of the individuals providing better 
care and better facilities for the people with 
paralysis.

Corporate Social Responsibility is vital 
for any organisation. At Fina Bank, we 

have continued to uphold our value of being 
responsible to the wider community as we 
identify avenues through which we can reach 
out and offer a lending hand through various 
projects. 

In 2012, Fina Bank donated Shs. 60,000/- 
towards the purchase of baby cots for Hope 
Children’s Home. The Nairobi based children’s 
home rescues and accepts babies who are 
between one day and six months old. 

The infants are rescued from hospitals and  
are taken care of until they are either adopted 
or attain the age of three years where they 
graduate and are transfered to a vetted home 
that cares for older children.

In a separate event, Fina Bank donated old 
newspapers to the Cluster Foundation which 
was launched four years ago, and has been 
involved in improving the quality of life for 
persons with paralysis. 

The Bank donated old news papers and 
magazines that the foundation uses to make 
environmental friendly pencils that they brand 
and sell to corporate institutions. The money 
raised goes towards providing better care and 
facilities for the people with paralysis.
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KENYA HIGHLIGHTS

Customer Events

Customer engagement forums assist any 
business in knowing what works best 

for its customers. It is through the one-on-
one interactions that customers understand 
the organisation better and form a healthy 
relationship based on trust.

Treasury Talk on Chinese Yuan
Banks treasury department organized a 
breakfast meeting for our customers in which 
the growing use of Chinese Yuan for trade related 
payments to and from China was highlighted. 
Our Head of Treasury, Mr. V.K Abirman made a 
presentaion on emerging trends in global trade 
payments and particularly, the advantages 
to Kenyan importers in making payments in 
Chinese Yuan for trade related transactions 
with mainland Chinese suppliers.

The customers took the opportunity to interact 
with our team of Relationship Managers during 
and after the meeting thanking the Bank for 
keeping them abreast with developments in 
the market.

Business cocktail at Thika
Fina Bank Thika branch held a business 
cocktail at the Thika Gymkhana Club.

Hosted by the Relationship Manager Charity 
Mwaura and the Thika Branch team, the 
event was graced by the Managing Director 
and CEO Mr. Bhaskar Ghose, Regional 
Business Manager Mr. Norris Digo and Senior 
Relationship Manager Mr. Duncan Siriba.

Mr. Ghose thanked the visitors for honouring 
the invitation and coming in numbers and 
shared the Bank’s shift in strategy from an 
SME to a Mid-Corporate Bank, assuring them 
of customised solutions to their needs. 

He challenged those who had not yet joined to 
come on board and reassured the customers 
present that the Bank is focused on high 
turnaround time and excellence in service 
delivery.

Director of BTB Insurance Mr. Dilesh Somchand 
Bid thanked Fina Bank for the support accorded 
to his business over the years and added that 
the Bank was there for him in time of need. 
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KENYA HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Customer Events 

Koroga Event

Fina Bank hosted over 65 customers at a 
Koroga event. The occasion was graced by 

the Chairman Mr. Dhanu Chandaria, Managing 
Director & CEO Mr. Bhaskar Ghose, Non-
Executive Group Director Mr. Hanish Chandaria, 
Executive Director - Business Support Mr. 
Rajesh Kapoor and other members of our top 
management. 

Speaking during the event, our Managing 
Director & CEO Mr. Bhaskar Ghose assured 
the customers of quality service offered to 
them by the Bank. He also thanked them for 
the continued support and in being loyal to the 
Bank over the years.

To mark the occasion the Chairman, Mr. 

Dhanu Chandaria, Managing Director & CEO 
Mr. Bhaskar Ghose and Mr. Sudhir Shah, our 
customer from Pisu and Company, cut a cake.

The koroga truly lived up to its billing as the 
customers left the event happy to have shared 
a meal with our staff and having interacted 
with us. It is through such events that we can 
enhance our relationships with customers.

Business cocktail at Mombasa
Fina Bank Mombasa branch hosted over 32 
customers to a business cocktail, an event 
that was graced by the MD & CEO Mr. Bhaskar 
Ghose, Regional Business Manager Norris 
Digo and the Mombasa branch team.

Speaking on the occassion, Mr. Ghose thanked 
the customers for the continued business 
support and loyalty and noted that the Bank 
was actively looking into opportunities that 
will improve access to Import/Export business 
routed through the Mombasa port.

 In his remarks, one customer took to the stage 
and appreciated what the Bank has done for 
his business. He acknowledged how the Bank 
has helped him grow his business.
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KENYA HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Customer Events 

Ngong Road Branch Anniversary

Fina Bank Ngong Road branch marked its 
third anniversary since it opened its doors 

at Piedmont Plaza along Ngong Road, with a 
commemorative breakfast held at the branch.

Hosted by Relationship Manager Edwin 
Kamweru and the Ngong Road team, the 
event was graced by the Head of Treasury Mr. 
Villupuram Abiraman, Head of Service Delivery 
Mr. Michael Obiero and Regional Manager Ms. 
Purity Wanjie.

The branch has been offering world class 
customer service to our customers in Ngong 
Road, Hurlingham and Kilimani environs. 

Eunice Huang, representing  Gao Yu 
International Limited, thanked the staff 

members in the branch for their prompt and 
efficient service and expressed her satisfaction 
with the Bank. 

Assisted by customers who graced the event, 
Head of Treasury Mr. Villupuram Abiraman 
cut the cake and thanked the customers for 
their valued partnership with the Bank. He 
also reaffirmed to the customers that Fina 
Bank is continually looking to improve both our 
products and service delivery. 

Mr. Hu Xi, a Director at Gao Yu International 
later presented them with a gift and flowers to 
mark the occasion.
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KENYA HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Customer Events

Fun day for Juniors 

Our junior account holders were hosted 
to a day of fun, laughter and games at 

the, Kimathi, Meru and Mombasa branches. 
Accompanied by their parents, the children 
were encouraged to acquire a saving culture. 

The Kimathi Branch and Business team played 
a big role in helping them fill forms and deposit 
money in their accounts, a process that saw 
many new accounts opened and dormant 
ones reactivated. The junior customers and 
their parents participated in various fun filled 
activities including musical chairs, dance 
competitions, computer games and face 
painting.

In a separate event our Meru Branch team also 
hosted a party for Fina Junior Account holders. 

Accompanied by their parents, the children 
interacted with branch members freely as they 
enjoyed cake, juice and snacks.

Those who attended did not only get to enjoy 
delicious snacks but took some home to their 
friends to help spread the word in Meru. New 
Fina Junior Accounts were opened on the 
occassion. 

In addition, our Mombasa branch team hosted 
junior account holders aged between 3 - 5 
years old for a day of fun and games. The event 
paved way for new accounts, re-activation of 
dormant ones and new leads. Customers who 
attended the event commended our staff for 
being friendly, interactive and receptive. 
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Customer Events

Customer Focus week

Every time a customer walks into any of our 
branches, it presents an opportunity for us 

to serve them better and make them aware of 
the different products and services we have for 
them. 

Our Kimathi Street branch held a Customer 
Focus Week. The team put up product banners, 
placed sweets on the counters and on the 
final day, prepared tea and biscuits for the 
customers. 

The exercise was a success as they managed 
to get leads, open new accounts and get one 
on one feedback from the customers. 

Moreover, in a bid to boost relationships 

with customers and interact with potential 
customers, Fina Bank Ngong Road Branch 
also launched a customer focus initiative. 

Customers walking into the branch were served 
with juice and snacks and the branch staff 
took the opportunity to interact with potential 
customers and market our products inside the 
branch as well as in the vicinity.
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Fina Bank Sponsors Cancer Run

Cancer patients in Uganda were given 
a ray of hope after the Indian Women 

Association organized a race at the Kati Kati 
grounds that helped raise money to support 
the Uganda Cancer Institute. 

Speaking during the event the association’s 
chairperson Ms Gurmeet Kaur Marwaha said 
that the run attracted over 1,700 participants 
from corporate sponsors to individuals where 
adult participants paid Ugx 25,000 and 
children Ugx 15,000.

The money collected from the race went 
towards the purchase of cancer screening and 
treating equipment for the Uganda Cancer 
Institute, the country’s only cancer treatment 
center, which grapples with shortage of 

equipment. Focus was put on cervical cancer, 
one of the cancers with the highest incidences 
in Uganda among women.

The race was flagged off at the Kanghharia 
Sikh Sports Club by the Information and 
National Guidance Minister, Ms Karoro Okurut. 
As part of our values of being responsible to 
a wider community, Fina Bank continues to 
partner with communities that we work in as a 
way of giving back to them.

Fund Raising Dinner
Fina Bank Uganda in partnership with Bank of 
Uganda and Rotary international engaged in 
a fundraising dinner so as to help in the fight 
against polio.

Customer Events

The dinner was used as a platform to inform 
people that polio affects children under the age 
of 5 and may either cripple or kill the victim. 

Uganda has faced a number of epidemics 
one big one among them being Polio. Polio 
is a viral disease that spreads through the 
oral route and cripples the nervous system 
permanently. Rotary International has for the 
last 25 years concentrated on raising funds for 
polio immunizations. 

The eradication campaigns have made 
substantial progress since 1988. when about 
125 countries were  affected by the disease.
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Customer Service Training 

Good customer service is the lifeblood 
of any business and in a competitive 

industry like banking we know that “being at 
par in terms of price and quality only gets you 
into the game but service wins the game”.

Since our customers are our best marketers, 
we know that good customer service is all 
about bringing customers back, and about 
sending them away happy – happy enough 
to pass positive feedback about our business 
along to others. Whilst it’s important that we 
know this, it’s equally important that we know 
how to deliver such service. 

In a recently concluded training at the Bank by 
the Executive Director, we were reminded that 
in delivering excellent service it’s important 

that we are, empathetic when dealing with 
unhappy clients, always enthusiastic to help, 
take ownership and responsibility of the client’s 
needs while keeping in mind that every client is 
different and therefore a creative approach in 
handling their unique needs is key. This being 
said, it’s worth mentioning that a happy and 
satisfied client shouldn’t come at the cost of 
the organisation.

If you walked through the door’s of Fina Bank 
today, you will definitely experience what 
service with a smile truly means.
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Fina Bank Signs MOU With 
Abitrust 

Agribusiness Trust Initiative in partnership 
with CrossRoads signed a Memorandum 

of Understanding with Fina Bank Uganda, a 
move that will see the Bank offer construction 
guarantees to its customers.

Agribusiness Initiative in partnership with 
CrossRoads earmarked 2 million pounds as 
construction guarantee targeting SMEs in the 
road construction sector and the guarantee will 
be accessed through participating institutions.

The fund intends to enable financial institutions 
offer various facilities such as performance 
bonds to small and medium enterprises. The 
deal will stimulate financing for companies 
with collateral challenges, especially those in 
the construction sector.

The opportunity paves way for companies with 
funds constraints and the scheme will pave 
way for prospective customers. Fina Bank is 
the sixth bank to sign on this scheme.



35
ANNUAL
REPORT

&
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
DECEMBER

2012

UGANDA HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Customer Events

Customer Feedback Workshop

Feedback is essential for any business as it 
gives you a clear picture of what works for 

you and what you need to improve so that you 
can map out an action plan of how to move 
forward.

To most organisations feedback provides the 
opportunity for fresh ideas on ways which one 
can improve business as you look for a clear 
insight towards the customer needs.
 
Over the years Fina Bank Uganda has 
adopted open  forums to collect feedback 
from customers and generate new ideas. The 
forums which are organised by the Business 
and Marketing teams attract customers and 
prospects and they are always graced by the 

C.E.O who addresses the customer’s business 
concerns as well as reassuring them of the 
Bank’s commitment to support Business.

The forums enable customers to relax, 
and speak freely regarding their various 
experiences; particular issues shared are 
on Customer care, customer retention, the 
countrywide inflation, and interest rates.
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RWANDA HIGHLIGHTS

Customer Events

Rwanda Day Celebrations in Boston

Last year more than 2,000 Rwandese and 
friends of Rwanda attended the Rwanda 

Day event in Boston, US. 

Themed Agaciro meaning ‘the journey 
continues’ in Kinyarwanda, the two-day event 
provided the opportunity for all Rwandans as 
well as friends in the diaspora to learn more 
about the remarkable unfolding success story 
of Rwanda’s progress. The prestigious event 
was graced by President Paul Kagame. 

Fina Bank Rwanda took the opportunity to 
present the Bank’s products and services 
to the participants abroad. Head of Human 
Resources Ms. Odette Rwubuzizi took time to 
present to the participants the involvement of 

Fina Bank in the growth and development of 
the Business sector in Rwanda.
The opportunity gave mileage to the people of 
diaspora as Fina Bank actively involves itself 
with cross boarder products.

Team Building
Last  September Fina Bank Rwanda organised 
Isonga, an initiative that was aimed at 
strengthening relations, uniting staff and 
purposefully engaging them in understanding 
and appreciating each departments’ 
contribution towards a common goal and as 
part of strategy to improve communication and 
product knowledge. 
Staff members were divided in teams of 8 with 
each team comprising of 31 staff members 

mixed from different departments and 
branches.  When all teams were done with the 
team building exercises, they took a product 
knowledge quiz.

The teams  were identifiable by distinctive 
colours and one group value. This gave an 
opportunity for staff to know each other 
better and work together in cohesive teams, 
incorporating activities that involved sharing 
departmental experiences, learning more 
about the bank and products offered.

The teams were encouraged to ensure that 
all members participate in all the sessions. 
Isonga lived up to its expectation as it brought 
staff members together to work and compete 
for a common good.
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I joined Fina Bank in April 2008 and working 
here has been a wonderful experience. 

I started off as a Relationship Officer in 
consumer banking and later moved to business 
banking. Currently I am a Relationship Officer, 
Liabilities Department. 

The best thing I appreciate about my work is 
that I get to meet and interact with customers 
directly all the time. Earlier on I used to assist 
Relationship Managers who handle customer 
portfolios and that gave me the opportunity to 
learn customer relationship techniques that 
have helped me grow and overcome my day to 
day hurdles.

The new assignment is not easy, as my day to 
day tasks involves opening new accounts and 

bringing in deposits. The main challenge is 
getting the mix of the accounts and the term 
deposits rights. However with the workshops 
and guidance from my seniors I am in a position 
to convert the challenges into opportunities of 
cross selling accounts and deliver.

In future I look forward to being a senior 
Relationship Manager. I see Fina reaching 
new heights of success with the mid-corporate 
strategy that we are focused on at present. 

I have been here for the last 5 years and the 
changes have been so positive and geared 
towards taking Fina Bank to the next level, I 
believe the next five will differentiate the Bank 
from competition as it deepens its reach to the 
mid-corporate institutions.   

Barrack Otieno
Relationship Officer, Liabilities
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Edwin Kamweru
Relationship Manager, Business
Assets

I joined Fina Bank in March 2010 and 
the corporate culture at Fina Bank is an 

experience that not only spurs growth both 
professionally and individually, but it is also a 
definite life changer. 

I initially started off as a Relationship Manager 
at Ngong Road branch and was later tasked 
with the capacity of being acting Branch 
Manager in 2011. Currently I am Relationship 
Manager, Business Assets.

What I like about my profession is that it gives 
me a clear platform of achieving improved 
growth and development within the team that 
paves way for steering customer satisfaction at 
the end of the day. 

Having that in mind I admit there are several 
challenges. One of the hurdles would be 
achieving a stretched goal, and I am slowly 
getting acquinted with. 

I am grateful for the opportunity. I would like 
to advance, however, I will do my current job to 
the best of my ability and keep my eyes open 
for opportunities within the organization. I am 
prepared to learn new things and contribute to 
the overall success of the organization.

I see Fina Bank as a regional pace setter in the 
Banking Industry by and large recognised and 
respected in Africa and the diaspora.
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It is now nearly four years since I joined 
Fina Bank. My experience here at Fina has 

been action packed right from the first day. I 
remember my first assignment, before I would 
even get to know my way around, was to 
prepare for a Risk Management programme 
for Fina Bank Uganda that needed to be 
presented to Bank of Uganda in the shortest 
time possible.  

I set straight to work. Fortunately for me I got 
the support of the team who I hardly knew, 
something that gave me the strength and 
confidence to forge ahead with my new task. 

I recall leaving my previous employment in 
search of exposure and for sure I was in the 
deep end of exposure. As the saying goes, with 

Ronnie Kabuuza
Manager, Risk and Compliance

every new experience comes new challenges, 
but determination and zeal to do your utmost 
best always sees you through and I believe that 
those qualities did a lot to keep me afloat.

This new dimension to a working environment 
gave it a vibrancy and energy that I had not 
experienced before at a work place, and this 
suited me well.

While I have now settled down in my role, this 
has not stopped the desire to do the best for 
the bank and the various stakeholders. It is 
the people who stand up to the challenges and 
conquer all adversities that are regarded as 
heroes and time has come for us to stand up 
and be counted.
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I joined Fina Bank in June 2011 as a Customer 
Care Officer. 

Being a Customer Care Officer at Fina Bank 
has helped me to acquire different skills and 
knowledge as well as understand the different 
customer needs, attitudes and perceptions.

It has also given me the opportunity to explore 
my skills and competencies in relation to 
providing good customer care particularly in 
face to face situations.

I am proud to be part of Fina Bank because 
it has opened my eyes to the real world of 
professionalism and helped me improve on 
my knowledge and skills. It has also helped 
me make self-assessments and set personal 
targets for my career development.  

The growth of the Bank is amazing, I enjoy 
working at Fina Bank because the  environment 
is friendly, professional and focused to serving 
our clientele with the highest level of integrity 
and honesty. 

Umuhoza Marie  Ange 
Customer Care Officer
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Alfred Kandarah
Team Leader
Typotech Imaging Systems Ltd.

Typotech Imaging Sytems Ltd. became an 
incorporated company in 1997. Then, I 

was the sole staff member, and had just left 
Kodak, where I worked as an Assistant Sales 
Manager for over 6 years. 

What I had in mind upon the inception of 
the company, was a company that would 
largely focus on print consultancy, by offering 
companies printing solutions. This idea 
evolved after realizing that this period - the 
late 90’s - was the advent of technology in 
Kenya, and I challenged myself to provide 
printing materials such as consumables and 
equipment. The assimilation of my original 
idea and my epiphany provided a platform 
upon which my expertise in print technology 
and marketing could be fully implemented and 
exploited.

In 2000, after jumping over the Y2K hurdle, 
we slowly began symbiotic relationship with 
First Graphics South Africa - later acquired by 
Antalis South Africa - who, then, were the only 
printing plate manufacturer in Africa. By 2002, 
we became their sole distributor in east Africa. 
This was the turning point of our business, as 
we realized that we now had a stable brand 
across the East African region with equipment 
manufactured in Africa.

Lead times also became shorter because 
it would take 10 days for vessels to arrive at  
Mombasa from Durban. The same year, we 
were fortunate enough to open our branch 
office in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, and we 
found that transporting our supplies from 

Durban to Dar es Salaam by road only took us 
7 days. We couldn’t have been happier with 
how we entered the East African market!

Our strategy was to first target the newspaper 
industry, which is a daily industry; this way, 
we were guaranteed clients for our materials. 
This also gave us a firm foundation in regard to 
the liability of the business. Once we had this, 
we were now able to sell industrial printers, 
book printers, and the myriad more printing 
supplies that we offer today, in addition to the 
commercial printers.

In 2002, we had 5 staff members in Nairobi, 
and 1 staff member in Dar es Salaam: I was 
the Salesman and Business Development 



CUSTOMER TESTIMONIALS KENYA (continued)

Manager; an accounts staff; a front office staff; 
a technical staff to assist me; and a delivery 
man, at the Nairobi office; and, our country 
manager in Tanzania. Eleven years later, we 
have 22 team members across the region and 
four regional offices, with the head office here 
in Nairobi. We have a branch office in Dar es 
Salaam, Tanzania; Kampala, Uganda; and, 
Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. With high conviction, I 
can say that we have brought major changes in 
the printing industry, in East Africa.

In February of this year, the African Print, 
which is published in South Africa, wrote a 
lengthy piece on how we have changed the 
printing industry in the East African region by 
introducing the high-end Kodak CTP Pre-press 
systems. Throughout the region, we have 
testimonials by our clients how these systems 
have revolutionized the printing industry in 
East Africa. 

In Addis Ababa, the government printing press 
Artistic Printing Enterprise, bestowed upon 
us an award of excellence, for the work we 
have done to improve their entire production 
infrastructure from the pre-press to the press. 
All this is attributed to investing in technology 
and, more importantly, investing in human 
resource; getting people who have the 
competence of transferring that technology to 
the printing industry.

When I started expanding the business in 
2000, I had only Shs.  92,000. The first thing 

on my agenda was, looking for a partner. My 
confidence about my expertise, and knowledge 
of what was lacking in the region, is how our 
relationship with First Graphics South Africa 
was established. Since we couldn’t even 
afford equipment worth 30,000 Rands, they 
decided that they would start us off with credit 
of that amount, which we were supposed to 
pay in less than 3 months; the agreed upon 
time. While honoring our credit line, and as 
our business grew, that amount increased to 
600,000 Rands. However, as appreciative as 
we were about that huge sum, it didn’t provide 
room for us to grow larger.

Our longtime bank and financial partner, Fina 
Bank, enabled our expansion; a turning point 
that I love to call the implementation of phase 
2 of our organization’s development. It was 
tough explaining to them what we were doing; 
thus, we invited their Managing Director then, 
to visit our office to further understand our 
business model. 

Needless-to-say, he got it, and they provided us 
overdraft and Letter of Credit facilities, which 
enabled us to acquire high-end equipment that 
could also serve as collateral. Moreover, they 
tailored our account specifically to our needs. 
Personalized service, where our account 
relationship manager would take their time to 
understand what we want, is something that 
we value the most, and don’t take for granted. 
Explaining our position and needs has always 
been met with very quick responses to our 

queries. Short term financing, which all young 
companies need at some point, has also been 
of great help to us.

As an ISO Certified company, our vision for 
Typotech is to be the preferred imaging solutions 
provider in Africa, and our strategic plan for the 
next five years is to be in the entire eastern 
African region. When the history of this company 
is written, Fina Bank will always be remembered 
as that dependable and prominent partner that 
held our hand and walked with us.
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Rajesh Shah
Director
Belfast Millers Ltd.

Without divulging much, suffice it to say 
that operations of companies, micro 

or macro, demand strong financial partners, 
amongst other pillars that strengthen them. 
Our relationship with Fina Bank began in 1998, 
and we were among the first clients upon the 
launch of their Industrial Area branch. 

Our previous banking partners weren’t too 
keen on customer service, and thus, we felt 
unappreciated. 15 years on, we don’t regret 
our decision. The proximity of the bank from 
our company, which we found appealing, soon 
became an added bonus.

Conducting our affairs with our relationship 
manager through the phone has made visits to 
the bank superfluous. Any financial quandary 
that arises is handled efficiently, something 

that we have now been able to employ to the 
operations of our own company, rather than 
expending all our energy handling matters with 
our bank. As they have grown, we have grown 
with them.

Belfast Millers Ltd. was established in 1971, 
and we were situated at the same place that 
we currently are. Then we only occupied one 
godown that was 5,000 sq. feet in size and in 
that limited space we ran a small mill. After 
7 years, we installed a fully integrated buhler 
feed mill plant, with a capacity of 8 tonnes per 
hour. Thenceforth, we’ve been running and 
expanding slowly.

Our millers make and supply all kinds of 
animal feeds. We feed rabbits; mice for the 
government laboratories; elephants; giraffes; 
dairy cattle; and poultry, both broilers and 
layers, which is particularly our main business. 
Even though our earnings have increased, the 
market is ever changing, and we constantly 
find that we have to keep up with it.

Back when we started, I would say that the 
market was great because we practically 
had a monopoly in this business. However, 
with the liberalization of the market, we have 
seen major players emerge, bringing along 
challenges of competition and innovation. 
Nonetheless, through these challenges, we 
have seen opportunities because farmers have 
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(continued)
also become very smart, and are demanding 
higher and better quality feeds for their 
livestock. This has availed an opportunity for 
us to be a cut above the rest by sharpening our 
quality control and marketing skills; efficiency 
has been the key, and this is where Fina Bank 
came in.

The past 40 years of this company’s existence 
have presented challenges that we’ve had 
to transcend. The next 10 years present a 
future that we’d like to capitalize on through 
a complete turnaround of this company, and 
we are currently setting up structures that 
will guide us towards, and help us in, the 
realisation of this turnaround. This, we know, 
will propel continuity as we aspire to be the 
feed miller of choice to both the top farmer 
and discerning farmer in Kenya. 

We are not in this for quantity; Belfast Millers 
is known for quality! This is something that we 
promise and guarantee our clients, and we’ll 
always maintain our high standards.
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Jamie Roberts
Managing Director
Tropic Air.

We are one of the largest air charter 
companies in Kenya. However, I didn’t 

set-out to be the largest: I set-out to be the 
best!

I was born and raised in Kenya, and moved 
to Nanyuki about 20 years ago with my small 
aircraft. Nanyuki was quite small then and 
I can only pick out three lodges that were 
around this area. Today, we have about 25 
to 30 lodges in this area, and Tropic Air has 
grown and evolved with the rich environment 
of Nanyuki. The looping contours that sketch 
the scenery around the topography of this 
land, offer tranquility to the soul. An occasional 
glimpse of Mount Kenya, which is a sight away, 
serves as a reminder of the journey that I’m on: 

The imminent and incessant hurdles that I’ll 
have to traverse; the mound of aspirations that 
I have to attain; the confidence and unyielding 
focus that will guide us to the peak; and that 
requires resilience.
 
One thing that I noted through my travels across 
Kenya was that most air charter companies 
were based at Wilson Airport. I then decided 
that I would operate my air charter company 
from Nanyuki, and that’s when I established 
Nanyuki Airfield, where we currently operate 
from. That was the first time that an individual 
had leased a government airfield. Our aircraft 
fleet expanded, and in addition to the 3-seater 
small aircraft that we had, we included a 
Cessna 206, which was also privately funded.
Realizing that we were fully immersed into the 

aviation industry, we thus decided to expand 
our fleet by acquiring an aircraft with a bigger 
seating capacity. The financial institution that 
we banked with, before moving to Fina Bank, 
helped finance our 13-seater Cessna Caravan, 
which was, and still is, the largest aircraft in 
our fleet. 

When it came to acquiring our second Cessna 
Caravan, all was well, so I thought, until they 
told me that they couldn’t help in financing for 
the second aircraft. I literally walked across 
the street to a Fina Bank branch, where I was 
able to explain my situation. I gave them my 
proposal, and one week later, not only did they 
help finance for the second Caravan, but they 
took over financing of the first Caravan.That 
was 8 years ago.
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Tropic Air’s evolution is one that took its 
own course. It wasn’t prompted by following 
a particular precedent, or aiming for a 
predetermined benchmark. A friend of mine 
brought in a helicopter, and later handed over 
the management of that helicopter to me 
after telling me that one can’t make money 
in the aviation industry with a helicopter. 
The evolution has been all about trying; not 
only trying to prove to myself that one can 
make money in the aviation industry with a 
helicopter, but also to prove to other people in 
the industry that helicopters are a vital part of 
the aviation industry.

Our helicopter fleet has grown to 4 helicopters, 
and not only do we use our helicopters in the 
tourism industry - for those who can afford, 
but we are also involved in search-and-rescue 
missions, and are heavily plugged into the 
filming industry. 

I can confidently say that we do the majority 
of the aerial filming in Kenya and the East 
and Central African region, namely: Uganda; 
Tanzania; Ethiopia; Congo. We have worked 
with BBC for the past 6 years, and were 
involved in the creation of their most recent 
documentary called “Africa,” by Sir David 
Attenborough, amongst others. Our helicopters 
were used to do the aerial shots for  the Niko 
Na Safaricom advert, which I understand was 
the most popular Kenyan advert, both within 
and beyond our borders. 
Prior to that experience, something that 

I was, perhaps, taking for granted, is the 
vast amount of flora and fauna grounded by 
unique landscapes within our borders that 
are unknown to Kenyans. Being able to share 
Kenya with my fellow Kenyans, and taking it to 
the world, is always an honor. Tropic Air also 
flies for the British Army. 

Kenya, is actually one of the British Army’s 
biggest training areas in the world. We do range 
clearance for them, which means making 
sure that their training ground is free from 
wildlife, livestock, and human beings, before 
they conduct their live-ammunition training. 
The future of Tropic Air, though, is more than 
just flying: We see a future in maintenance. 
Currently, we maintain our own aircrafts and 
45 other aircrafts from other organizations 
and individuals.

We take pride in our 60-strong member team, 
which is comprised of pilots, engineers, ground 
handlers, accountants, and administrators. 
When I started, I was the only pilot, but today 
we have 9 pilots on our team. As we seek to be 
the best in this industry, passion is something 
that all must have in the concerted effort of 
attaining that dream. I see passion in each of 
our team members, and that’s what I believe 
will propel us to greater heights.

There is much more to do, and we are 
constantly looking for opportunities that will 
lead to the next phase of our organization’s 
growth. Our financial partners, Fina Bank, 

have, thus far, helped us acquire 6 aircrafts. 
From day one, hitherto, I’ve had peace-of-mind 
in the financial aspect of our organization. I 
am certain that when the time comes to get 
a new aircraft, the progressive Fina Bank will 
be there, as they always have, to take the leap 
with us when others wouldn’t.
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Horatius Da Gama Rose
Group Executive Chairman
Da Gama Rose Group.

Our history with Fina Bank extends back 
to its inception, long before it became a 

bank in 1996. Finance Institute of Africa, as 
it was known when we founded it, was part of 
Da Gama Rose Group’s peek into the financial 
services sector. 

A year in, we changed the name to Fina, which, 
if you take a keen look, is an acronym of the 
old name. We sold Fina Bank in the late ‘80s, 
and, thenceforth, the bold moves they have 
made in the financial sector of this country, 
and the East African region; the repertoire of 
their client base; and, the implementation of 
the word “efficient” into their operations; are a 
few among many things that make Fina Bank 
admirable.

There are 32 subsidiaries under the tarp that 
is The Da Gama Rose Group. These companies 
are spread out across the world, making it a 
global enterprise. We are settling in Africa with 
companies in 9 countries, warming up to Asia 
with companies in India and Pakistan, and 
continually challenging ourselves by breaking 
through the proverbial glass ceiling with our 
companies in the United States and the United 
Kingdom. 

The Da Gama Rose Group is based in our 
popularly known “green city in the sun”, and its 
32 companies operate in various sectors, such 
as: Information Technology; Manufacturing; 
Agriculture Tourism; Real Estate; and, the 
Printing and Packaging Industry.

One of our renowned companies, Symphony, 
is an IT firm that was founded in the late ‘70s. 
Computer Applications Limited (CAL), the 
banal name that it went by then, was founded 
in 1979. We saw an opportunity to deliver the 
technological advancements of the developed 
world to Kenya, and took it. 

In the ‘80s, CAL became the market leader 
in the Information Technology sector of this 
country. In the ‘90s, we founded an IT training 
institute called the Institute of Advanced 
Technology (IAT), and within that decade, 
we also acquired IBM’s principal partner in 
Kenya, Business Computer Systems Limited, 
leading to a grand-scale partnership with IBM. 
As we were acquiring businesses and forming 
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partnerships, many IT companies sprung out 
of CAL, and each operated autonomously, 
until we assimilated them to form what is now 
known as Symphony.

Our footprints and successes through the East 
African region - in Kenya, Uganda, Rwanda, 
Burundi and Ethiopia - have prompted offers 
from multinational corporations. 

The loyalty of our customers to us, and us to 
them is what has kept our heads above water, 
and we’ll always be indebted to them for the 
support that they have lent us through the 
years. 

Selling Symphony wouldn’t have been fair to 
Safaricom, Yu, the Kenya Government, GM, 
KPLC, National Bank, Kenya Airports Authority, 
and the myriad more that have been with us; 
some, even before Symphony was birthed.

The only way that indigenous organizations 
will survive the harsh and competitive nature 
of the business environment, is through the 
support of local companies and individuals. 
Furthermore, companies in Kenya have their 
work cut out for them as we have to surpass 
the acceptable standards of service delivery 
across the world. 

We have been with Fina Bank since we started 
it, and we’ll be with them for many more 
decades, so long as the high standard is not 

only maintained, but is always improved. 
We bank with them in countries across East 
Africa, and are currently waiting for them as 
they venture into the different African regions 
that we also operate from. Though we started 
Fina, that’s not what binds us to them; they are 
just that good! It also feels good supporting 
an organization that has been built from the 
ground up, by Kenyans!

CUSTOMER TESTIMONIALS KENYA
(continued)
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CUSTOMER TESTIMONIALS UGANDA

Winfred Tusubira
Managing Director
Optimum Foundation Limited and 
Mastered Supermarket.

As a business person in this dynamic world                    
of service, what you bring to the table has to 

entice the customer and how you retain them 
is what differentiates you from competition.

I run a supermarket in one of the busiest 
Kampala suburbs and one thing about service 
is that you only have one chance of convincing 
the customers so that they may come back 
again. 

Initially Mastered Supermarket started off 
small, the business was doing well but there 
were times we wished we had more funds so 
that we could expand our premises and fit the 
number of customers who shopped with us. 
We also felt the need to grow our business and 
had a few hitches that hindered us to achieve 
the level of success due to lack of adequate 
funds.

In 2009 I had a plan of ensuring that I take 
business to the next level. It was in this 
regard that I created a steady relationship 
with Fina Bank and ensure that the business 
grows steadily. Fina Bank officials visited my 
premises and the relationship managers went 
through my financial statements and advised 
me on what to do so as to achieve growth 
plans.

It was during a casual visit with the relationship 
managers that I was advised that Fina Bank 
would be able to finance my supermarket and 
be able to recapitalize my business through 
the loans and overdrafts. I found that that was 
the solution to my problem. 

With the help of the Relationship Manager, 
there was a swift process as the Bank 
scrutinised my books and agreed to finance 
me. The entire documentation took a short 
time and that was it. All I had to do was pay 
up my loans and channel money through my 
account.  This helped boost my product flow 
and expansion and resulted in me being able 
to meet my business expenses immediately.

I also used that money to buy my products 
in bulk and against cash payments, which 
enabled my costs to drop drastically. My 
business started growing at a faster pace and 
the more diverse I got the more customers and 
the more money I received from the institution.

I plan to open up another branch early next year 
and two places have already been identified 
and we are planning to narrow it down to one. 
This will enable us reach a wider market here 
in Kampala as we give the people of Uganda 
an easy time shopping. I am glad that I paired 
up with the right Bank that realised my needs 
and provided me with instant finance. 

With the excellent service at Fina Bank I am 
able to spend less time in the banking hall 
which helps me concentrate more on my core 
business. When I am at any Fina Bank branch, 
I am at home.
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CUSTOMER TESTIMONIALS UGANDA 
(continued)

Jeeten Rajani
Managing Director 
Sai Offices.

Sai  Offices is a regional company that 
provides office solutions by creating 

relationships and providing superior 
quality products and services that exceed 
expectations. The reputation and versatility 
that our company has built over time has 
helped Sai Offices to expand business in the 
region with expectations of venturing into other 
regions.

I did not know what a good bank Fina was until 
I started banking with them. My banking life 
was cumbersome; I recall spending almost a 
whole day in a bank due to long queues waiting 
to either deposit or withdraw money but after 
joining Fina Bank I said goodbye to long queues 
and inefficiency. 

Fina Bank has set the standards for me and my 

business. The Bank is in a class of its own and it 
understands what good customer service is all 
about. Moreover it is interested in my business 
as well as me as an individual. 

I now know what it feels like to walk in and out 
of a bank almost immediately, thanks to the 
fast services at Fina Bank.  The banking halls 
have almost no queues at all. I have enjoyed 
unique products at the Bank tailored to suit my 
needs as a customer.  The Bank trusts me and 
I trust them; It is a partnership based on trust 
and I respect the fact that they care enough to 
watch over my business. 

My Relationship Manager has time to pay 
frequent visits to find out how my business 
is doing. He is genuinely interested seeing 
my business grow; we believe that with the 
inventive nature of Fina Bank management 
great products and services like Master Card 
will be introduced soon. Our partnership with 
Fina Bank will continue to grow as it has 
supported our business indeed.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

REGISTERED OFFICE
 
LR. Plot No. 209/X11/624
FINA House, Kimathi Street
P O Box 20613
Nairobi-00200
 
COMPANY SECRETARY
 
Mr. N. N. Shah 
Certified Public Secretaries (Kenya)
P O Box 49874
Nairobi – 00100
 
AUDITOR 

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants 
PWC Tower
Chiromo Road
P O Box 43963
Nairobi - 00100
 
PRINCIPAL LEGAL ADVISORS
 
Hamilton Harrison & Mathews
ICEA Building, Kenyatta Avenue
P O Box 30333
Nairobi – 00100
 
Shah & Shah 
Standard Chambers, Kimathi Street
P.O. Box 45839
Nairobi - 00100
 

Walker Kontos 
Hakika House, Bishop Road
P O Box 60680
Nairobi – 00200

CORRESPONDENT BANKS  

US Dollar (USD) 
Standard Chartered Bank, New York
Societe Generale, New York
 
Euro (EUR) 
Standard Chartered Bank, Frankfurt
Societe Generale, Paris
 
Indian Rupee (INR) 
ICICI Bank Limited, Mumbai
 
South African Rand (ZAR) 
Standard Bank of SA, Johannesburg
ABSA Bank Limited, Johannesburg
 
British Pound (GBP) 
Standard Chartered Bank, London
 
Australian Dollar (AUD) 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Sydney
 
Japanese Yen (JPY)
Standard Chartered Bank, Tokyo

52



ANNUAL
REPORT

&
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
DECEMBER

2012

53

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

DIRECTORS
   
Mr. Dhanji Hansraj Chandaria1 Chairman and Non Executive Director 
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah Non Executive Director 
Mr. Rameshkumar Manubhai Patel Non Executive Director 
Mr. Hanish Chandaria1 Non Executive Group Director  
Mr. Macharia Njeru                          Non Executive Director 
Mr. Steve Omenge Mainda EBS       Non Executive Director 
Mr. Bhaskar Ghose2 Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer (Up to 26th April 2013) 
Mr. Rajesh Kapoor2 Acting Managing Director (From 26th April 2013)
   
KEY MANAGEMENT
   
Mr. Bhaskar Ghose2 Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer (Up to 26th April 2013) 
Mr. Rajesh Kapoor2 Acting Managing Director  (From 26th April 2013)
Mr. Michael Achola Obiero Head of Service Delivery 
Mr. Villupuram Abiraman Head of Treasury
Mr. Alex Mbatha Mbuthia Head of Finance 
Mr. Bhaskar Kalyanaraman Head of Credit 
Mr. Amitava Chakrabarty Head of Business - Assets 
Mr. Justus Wanjala Head of Business - Liabilities
Ms. Esther Mwaniki Head of Risk & Compliance
Ms. Damaris Wachuka Lilech Head of Human Resources  
Mr.  Dipan Goshar Shah Head of Audit
Ms. Ndila Mulinge Legal Manager 
Ms. Bernadette Mwihaki Ngara Head of Marketing  

BOARD CREDIT COMMITTEE
   
Mr. Steve Omenge Mainda EBS       Chairman 
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah Member 
Mr. Rameshkumar Manubhai Patel Member 
Mr. Hanish Chandaria Member 

1 British

2 Indian
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE
   
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah  Chairman 
Mr. Steve Omenge Mainda EBS        Member 
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Member 
Mr. Harilal Jivraj Nathwani  Member 

BOARD RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
   
Mr. Macharia Njeru                           Chairman 
Mr. Rameshkumar Manubhai Patel  Member 
Mr. Steve Omenge Mainda EBS        Member 
   
BOARD ASSET AND LIABILITIES COMMITTEE
   
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Chairman 
Mr. Macharia Njeru                           Member 
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah  Member 
   
BOARD HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE
   
Mr. Macharia Njeru                           Chairman 
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah  Member 
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Member 
   
BOARD ICT STEERING COMMITTEE
   
Mr. Steve Omenge Mainda EBS        Chairman 
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah  Member 
Mr. Hanish Chandaria  Member 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
MUTHAIGA BRANCH
Sharp Building
Wambui Road, Off Thika Highway
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3740312
Fax: +254 (0) 20 3743369
E-mail: muthaiga@finabank.com

GIKOMBA BRANCH
Kensta Metal Building
New Pumwani Road
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 6768515
Fax: +254 (0) 20 6768516
E-mail: gikomba@finabank.com

NGONG ROAD BRANCH
Piedmont Plaza, Ngong Road.
P. O. Box 20613,  Nairobi - 00200 
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3861563
E-mail: ngongroad@finabank.com

THIKA BRANCH
Kigio Plaza, Kwame Nkrumah St.
P. O. Box 4103, Thika - 01002
Tel: +254 (0) 67 20186
Fax: +254 (0) 67 20193
E-mail: thika@finabank.com

MOMBASA BRANCH
Ambalal House, Nkrumah Road. 
P.O.Box 90089, Mombasa - 80100
Tel: +254 (0) 41 2225852
Fax: +254 (0) 41 2229559
E-mail: mombasa@finabank.com

NAKURU BRANCH
Giddo Plaza
P.O Box 12366, Nakuru - 20100
Tel: +254 (0) 51 2213655
Fax: +254 (0) 51 2213599
E-mail: nakuru@finabank.com

ELDORET BRANCH
Charotar Patel Plaza (2000)
P.O Box 8371, Eldoret - 30100
Tel: +254 (0) 53 2030922
Fax: +254 (0) 53 2030925
E-mail: eldoret@finabank.com

MERU BRANCH
Alexander Building, Ghana Road.
P.O.BOX 1733, Meru - 60200
Tel: +254 (0) 64 30210/1/2
Fax: +254 (0) 64 30218
E-mail: meru@finabank.com

NANYUKI BRANCH
Kenyatta Street
P.O Box 1715, Nanyuki - 10400
Tel: +254 (0) 62 32113
Fax: +254 (0) 62 32826
E-mail: nanyuki@finabank.com

NYALI BRANCH
City Mall,  1st Floor
P.O Box 90089, Nyali, Mombasa - 80100
Telephone (+254) 041 2225852
Fax: (+254) 041- 2229559
E-mail: nyali@finabank.com

KENYA BRANCHES

HEAD OFFICE
FINA House, Kimathi Street
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3284000
Cell: +254 (0) 703 084000
Fax: +254 (0) 20 247164
E-mail: banking@finabank.com
Website: www.finabank.com
Swift: FBAKKENA

KIMATHI BRANCH
FINA House, Kimathi Street
P. O. Box 20613, Nairobi - 00200
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3284000
Fax: +254 (0) 20 2229696
E-mail: kimathi@finabank.com

INDUSTRIAL AREA BRANCH
Enterprise/Bamburi Road
P. O. Box 18647, Nairobi - 00500
Tel: +254 (0) 20  552692
Fax: +254 (0) 20 652454
E-mail: indarea@finabank.com

WESTLANDS BRANCH
Apic Centre, Parklands Ring Road
P. O. Box 13896, Nairobi - 00800
Tel: +254 (0) 20 3744138
Fax: +254 (0) 20 3748895
E-mail: westlands@finabank.com

LAVINGTON BRANCH
ABC Place: Waiyaki Way
P. O. Box 14309, Nairobi - 00800
Tel/fax: +254 (0) 20 4440755
E-mail: lavington@finabank.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
RWANDA BRANCHES

HEAD OFFICE
20 Bld de la Revolution
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.rw 

KIGALI CITY BRANCH
20 Bld de la Revolution
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.rw

NGOMA BRANCH (Ex Kibungo)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

MUSANZE BRANCH (Ex Ruhenge)
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 546305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 547106
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

REMERA BRANCH
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 580551/2
Fax: +250 (0) 252 580045 
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

KARONGI BRANCH (Ex Kibuye)

P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 568305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 568203
E-mail: Info@finabank.co.rw 

RUBAVU BRANCH ( Ex Gisenyi)
Rue de l`Aeroport, Rubavu 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 540071
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566393
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

MUHANGA BRANCH ( Ex Gitarama) 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 562798 
Fax: +250 (0) 252 562796
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

RUHANGO BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 562798 
Fax: +250 (0) 252 562796
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

NYIRANGAMA BRANCH
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 546305
Fax: +250 (0) 252 547106
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw 

NYABUGOGO BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598601
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw
KICUKIRO BRANCH
P O Box 331 – Kigali

Tel: +250 252 598601
Fax: +250 252 566394
 
KIGALI CITY MARKET BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600 
Fax : +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

RUSIZI BRANCH (Ex Cyangugu)
P. O Box 331, Kigali                          
Tel: +250 (0) 252 598600 
Fax: +250 (0) 252 573486
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

RUBAVU (Petite Barriere) BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 540071
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

KABARONDO BRANCH 
P. O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.co.rw

KAYONZA BRANCH
P O. Box 331, Kigali
Tel: +250 (0) 252 566393
Fax: +250 (0) 252 566394
E-mail: info@finabank.com

KICUKIRO BRANCH
P O Box 331 – Kigali
Tel: +250 252 598601
Fax: +250 252 566394
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
OVINO BRANCH 
Plot 22 Kisenyi Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda. 
Tel: +256 (0) 414 250 766
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305 
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug 

KYALIWAJJALA BRANCH 
Plot: 31 Kyaliwajjala 
Namugongo Road
Tel: (+256) 043 4660647/4660485
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

KIIRA ROAD BRANCH
Fina Bank (Uganda) Ltd
Plot 53 Kiira Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 414 237284/237305 
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

BUGANDA ROAD BRANCH
Fina Bank (Uganda) Ltd
Plot 7 Buganda Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 414 237284/237305 
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug 

UGANDA BRANCHES

HEAD OFFICE
Plot 53 Kiira Road
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: (+256) 414 237 284/237 305
Fax: (+256) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

INDUSTRIAL AREA BRANCH
Plot 13 Mulwana road 
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda 
Tel: +256 (0) 414 341 374
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug 

MBARARA BRANCH
Plot 52/54 High Street
P. O. Box 242 Mbarara, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 485 421255/246
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E- mail: banking@finabank.co.ug

NAKIVUBO ROAD BRANCH
Fina Bank (Uganda) Ltd
Plot 34/38 Nakivubo Rd
P. O. Box 7323 Kampala, Uganda
Tel: +256 (0) 414233813/812 
Fax: +256 (0) 414 237 305
E-mail: banking@finabank.co.ug
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS KENYA

Nalinkumar Shah
Company Secretary

Rajesh Kapoor
Acting Managing 

Director
(From 26th April 2013)

Rameshkumar Patel
Non-Executive Director

Steve Mainda, EBS
Non-Executive Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS KENYA

Dhanu Chandaria
Chairman

Bhaskar Ghose
Managing Director & 

CEO
(Up to 26th April 2013)

Hanish Chandaria
Non-Executive 
Group Director

Macharia Njeru
Non-Executive Director
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MANAGEMENT TEAM KENYA

Head of Finance

Alex Mbatha 
Mbuthia Head of Business - Assets        

Head of Credit

Amitava Chakrabarty

Bhaskar Kalyanaraman
Head of Treasury

        

   Acting Managing Director 
(From 26th April 2013)

Head of Service
Delivery

 Villupuram Abiraman Rajesh Kapoor

 Michael Achola Obiero
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Head of
Human Resources

              Head of Audit         Head of Risk & 
Compliance        

Damaris Lilech

 Dipan ShahEsther Mwaniki

MANAGEMENT TEAM KENYA

Head of Business 
     - Liabilities 

Legal Manager
 Justus Wanjala Ndila Mulinge

       Head of Marketing         
Bernadette Ngara
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS UGANDA

62

Macharia Njeru
Non-Executive Director

Pankaj Sharma
Executive Director &

Head Of Corporate Banking
Charles Nalyaali

CEO
(Up to December 2012)

Pooran Kukreja
Acting Managing Director

(From December 2012)

Irene Mutumba
Non-Executive Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS UGANDA
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Nalinkumar Shah
Non-Executive Director

Hanish Chandaria
Non-Executive Group Director

Ramesh Babu
Chairman

Higiri Semajege
Non-Executive Director
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MANAGEMENT TEAM UGANDA

Acting Managing Director
(From December 2012) 

           Executive Director
        & Head of Corporate 

        Banking

Head of Business Performance

Pooran Kukreja
Manjunath Revankar

Pankaj Sharma

Manager, Finance
       

Barbara Athuhaire

Joseph Meck
Head of Business Banking
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MANAGEMENT TEAM UGANDA

Manager, Inernal AuditManager, Human Resource
Carol Ojiek

Manager, IT
Moses Bwana Ronnie Kabuuza

Manager, Risk

Moses Simbwa
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Senior Manager,
Central Operations

Anne Irumba 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS RWANDA

Benjamin
 Gasamagera

Non-Executive Director

Dhanu Chandaria
Non-Executive Director

Gerlad Mpyisi
Non-Executive Director

Celestine Kayitare
Non-Executive Director
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Kampeta Sayinzoga
Non-Executive Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS RWANDA

Late Kenneth Agaba
Executive Director

(Up to March 2013)

Rao Balivada
Managing Director

Hanish Chandaria
Non-Executive Group 

Director

Macharia Njeru
Chairman

Nalinkumar Shah
Non-Executive 

Director
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MANAGEMENT TEAM RWANDA

Head of RiskHead of Business Support  

      

Deo SebigaragaraAnantapur Muralidhar

Eugene
 Muligande

Head of Consumer Banking

        

Head of TreasuryManaging Director
Rao Ballivada Richard Ngabonziza
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Head of Finance
       

Anita Umuhire
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Head of Credit        
Aloys Gasana Immaculee Giraso
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MANAGEMENT TEAM RWANDA

Manager, HR
Odette RwubuziziJean Claude

 Mutajogire Operational Risk
Manager

Willy Kanamugire

Head of Business Unit       

Sandra Cyamwenshi
Legal and Recovery

Manager
Manager,  Compliance
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

70

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

-

Sharefolders’ Funds Profit Before Tax
M

ill
io

ns

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0

M
ill

io
ns

Advances and Deposits Over Five Years

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0

500

400

300

200

100

0

M
ill

io
ns

M
ill

io
ns

Total Assets

2008 2009 2010               2011               2012 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

3,000

30,000

600

700

Advances Deposits



ANNUAL
REPORT

&
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
DECEMBER

2012

56% 

3% 

28% 

8% 
3% 

2% 

Loans and Advances to Customers 
Deposit and Balances Due From Other Banks 

Cash and Central Bank Balances 
Property and Equipment 

Other Assets 

85% 

11% 

2% 

2% 

Customer Deposit 
Shareholders' Equity 

Other Liabilities 
Deposit From Other Banks 

62% 22% 

13% 
3% 

Net Interest Income 
Fees and Commision Income 
Foreign Exchange Income 
Other income 

61% 
18% 

12% 

9% 

Net Interest Income 
Fees and Commision Income 
Foreign Exchange Income 
Other income 

Government Securitites 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (continued)

Distribution of Assets 

Distribution of Operating Income, 2011 Distribution of Operating Income 2012 

Liabilities, Shareholders and Equity 
Composition 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Fina Bank is committed to adhering to the highest standards of good corporate governance at all levels of its operations. This commitment is rooted in our core 
values and beliefs. We have put in place elaborate governance processes which comply with industry best practice.        
          
Board charter and work plan                
The Board’s responsibilities are set out in the Board Charter. The Board Charter contains provisions which ensure that the Board observes best practice in 
corporate governance and contains among other things policies on: the size, role and functions of the Board; appointments and induction of directors; board 
performance evaluation; and remuneration of directors.              
   
The work plan has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for the Board’s attention to ensure it exercises full control over all significant matters. It sets 
out the schedule of meetings of the Board and its committees and the main business to be dealt with at those meetings. Additional meetings are scheduled as 
and when necessary.                

Board composition and appointments              
The Board currently consists of:                 
 • Chairman     1             
 • Executive Directors   2             
 • Non-Executive Directors   5             
                 
The Non-Executive Directors are drawn from a wide range of business and other backgrounds. This diversity is considered by the members as one of the 
strengths of the Board.                 
                 
The Board evaluates the performance of the management in order to be satisfied as to the integrity and strength of financial information, controls and risk 
management. Through the Board Human Resource Committee, they have a prime role in appointing, removing and succession planning of senior management 
and, responsible for determining appropriate levels of remuneration for the executive directors and senior management.      
           
All directors receive regular and timely information about the Bank prior to Board meetings. They also have access to the Company Secretary for any further 
information they may require.                   
                 
                 
Board meetings                 
The full Board meets at least four times a year.  In addition, the Board meets with senior executives within the Bank and Group for a two day off-site meeting 
once a year for the purposes of considering and approving the Group’s strategy. The Board deals with all significant matters including strategic direction for 
the Bank and Group; ensuring competent management of the business; internal control; compliance with laws and regulations and reporting performance to 
shareholders.                 
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Attendance at meetings       
The attendance of members at the Board and at meetings of the Audit, Risk, Assets and Liabilities (ALCO), Human Resources, Credit and ICT Steering committees 
during 2012 is detailed below:           
           ICT
    Board Audit Risk ALCO Credit HR   Steering

Number of meetings during the year  9  8 4 4 12 4 5
Mr. Dhanji Hansraj Chandaria1 100% - - - - - -
Mr. Rameshkumar Manubhai Patel 100% - 100% - 91.7% - -
Mr. Macharia Njeru                          100% - 100% 100% - 100% -
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah 100% 100% - 100% 100% 100% 100%
Mr. Steve Omenge Mainda EBS 100% 100% 100% - 91.7% - 100%
Mr. Hanish Chandaria1 100% 87.5% - 100% 91.7% 100% 100%
Mr. Bhaskar Ghose2 (Up to 26th April 2013)  100% - - - - - -
Mr. Rajesh Kapoor2 (From 26th April 2013) 100% - - - - - -
Mr. Harilal Jivraj Nathwani - 87.5% - - - - -

The directors are given appropriate and timely information on key activities of the business in order to carry out their roles. Specifically the directors are provided 
with supporting papers and relevant information for each meeting and are expected to attend, unless there are exceptional circumstances that prevent them 
from doing so. They may also seek independent professional advice, at the Bank’s expense, concerning the affairs of the Bank and Group in consultation with 
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.       
 
The Board annually conducts self and peer performance evaluation. The results are used to improve the Board’s performance. At least once a year, the Board 
meets without the presence of the Executive Directors.        
 
Separation of roles and responsibilities        
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate. The Chairman’s main responsibility is to lead and manage the work of the Board to ensure that 
it operates effectively and fully discharges its legal and regulatory responsibilities.  The Board has delegated the responsibility for the day-to-day management 
of the Bank to the Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for recommending strategy to the Board, and for making and implementing operational decisions.  

The Board has a collective responsibility for the success of the Bank and the Group.  However, the Executive Directors have direct responsibility for business 
operations, whereas Non Executive Directors are responsible for bringing independent judgment and scrutiny to decisions taken by the Management, providing 
objective challenge to the management.                
                  

1 British

2 Indian

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)

Committees of the Board       
In order for the Board to carry out its functions, and to ensure independent oversight of internal control and risk management, certain aspects of its role are 
delegated to Board Committees, whose members are Non Executive Directors.  The specific matters for which delegated authority has been given are set out in 
each Board Committee’s terms of reference, which are reviewed annually.            
     
The Board had delegated authority to six principal Board Committees:             
    
Board Audit Committee       
Board Credit Committee       
Board Risk Committee       
Board Assets and Liabilities Committee       
Board Human Resources Committee      
Board ICT Steering Committee       
  
These committees meet at least on a quarterly basis or whenever there are urgent matters to attend to.

In addition, the Executive Committee, comprising the Chief Executive Officer and his Senior Management meet on a monthly basis. Its main function is to 
implement and monitor the Bank’s strategy, operational plans and financial performance. It is also responsible for the assessment and control of risk.
       
Internal control and risk management
       
Internal control                 
The directors are responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Bank’s system of internal control, including internal financial control. This is designed to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding (a) the safeguarding of assets against unauthorized use or disposition and (b) the maintenance 
of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial information used within the business or for publication. These controls are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives due to circumstances which may reasonably be foreseen and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.           
  
Internal control framework       
Effective corporate governance remains key to the business. The Bank continues to review its internal control framework to ensure it maintains a strong and 
effective internal control environment. The effectiveness of the framework has been under regular review by the senior management.    
             

Risk management       
The Bank has a structure and process to help identify, assess and manage risks. This process has been in place throughout the year.   
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012, which disclose the state of affairs of 
the group and the company.                  
 
Principal Activities      
The principal activities of the Group are provision of banking and related services           
       
Results And Dividend      
The net profit after tax for the year of Shs 467 million (2011: Shs 311 million) has been added to retained earnings. The directors do not recommend the 
payment of a dividend (2011: nil).                

Directors          
The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report were:       

Mr. Dhanu Hansraj Chandaria1    - Chairman           
Mr. Bhaskar Ghose2    - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer  (Up to 26th April 2013)  
Mr. Nalinkumar Narshi Shah    - Non Executive Director         
Mr. Rameshkumar Manubhai Patel    - Non Executive Director        
Mr. Hanish Chandaria1    - Non Executive Group Director      
Mr. Macharia Njeru    - Non Executive Director         
Mr. Steve Omenge Mainda (EBS)    - Non Executive Director         
Mr. Rajesh Kapoor2    - Acting Managing Director (From 26th  April 2013)      
        
AUDITOR       
PricewaterhouseCoopers has indicated its willingness to continue in office in accordance with the provisions of Section 159(2) of the Companies Act and Section 
24(1) of the Banking Act.                  
 
By order of the Board       
          
      

Secretary      

March 22, 2013
          

1British 
2 Indian
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES
The Kenyan Companies Act requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the company as at the end of the financial year and of its profit.  It also requires the directors to ensure that the company keeps proper accounting records that 
disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the company.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group.  
          
The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable 
estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act and the Banking Act. The directors 
are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial affairs of the Group and of its profit in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.  The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records that may be relied upon in 
the preparation of financial statements, as well as designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Group will not remain a going concern for at least twelve months from the date of this 
statement.       
         
 
          
……………………………………………       
Director       
         
 
          
……………………………………………       
Director      

March 22, 2013
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS OF FINA BANK LIMITED         
Report on the consolidated financial statements       
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fina Bank Limited (the company) and its subsidiary (together, the group) as set out on 
pages 79 to 142.  These financial statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2012 and the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, together with 
the statement of financial position of the company standing alone at 31 December 2012 and statement of changes in equity of the company for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.       
          
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements       
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and with the requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act and for such internal control, as the directors determine necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.    
          
Auditor’s responsibility     
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.         
        
Opinion        
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial position of the group and of the company at 31 
December 2012 and of the profit and cash flows of the group for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
Kenyan Companies Act.  
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS OF FINA BANK LIMITED (continued)

Report on other legal requirements             
The Kenyan Companies Act requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on the following matters.  We confirm that:  

• we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit; 
 
• in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the company, so far as appears from our examination of those books; and  

• the company’s statement of financial position and income statement are in agreement with the books of account.       
          

Certified Public Accountants 
Nairobi 
 
March 28, 2013  
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  2012 2011 
 Notes  Shs’000  Shs’000 
   
 
Interest Income 5  3,156,764  2,312,701 
Interest Expense 6                    (1,752,857)                        (976,361)
Net interest income   1,403,907  1,336,340 
 
Fee and commission income   466,769   506,777 
Fee and commission expense   (39,670)  (27,971)

Net fee and commission income   427,099   478,806 

Foreign exchange income   268,707   268,820 
Other operating income 7  214,720   66,715 
Impairment losses on loans and advances 15  (62,110)  (182,228)
Operating expenses 8  (1,648,882)  (1,493,811)
Share of loss of associate 16(b)  (2,179)  -
Profit before income tax   601,262   474,642
Income tax expense 10  (134,557)  (163,609)
Profit for the year (of which Shs. 283.4 million (2011: Shs 224.9 
million) has been dealt with in the accounts of the company)   466,705    311,033
Attributed to:    
Equity holders of the Company   384,701   272,943 
Non controlling interests   82,004   38,090 
   466,705   311,033 
Earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company  
Basic and diluted earnings per share (Shs per share) 11 727.22  516.94 
   
 
   
 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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  2012 2011 
   Shs’000  Shs’000  
      
 
Profit for the Year   466,705   311,033  
      
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax      
Gains on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   (589)  (25,485) 
Currency translation differences   (47,386)  32,643  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax   (47,976)  7,158  
      
Total comprehensive income for the year   418,730   318,191  
      
Attributed to:      
Equity holders of the company   366,157   265,665  
Non-controlling interest   52,572   52,526  
      
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year   418,730   318,191  
      
 
      
 
       
      
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   
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  2012 2011 
   Shs’000  Shs’000  
      
 
Profit for the Year   466,705   311,033  
      
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax      
Gains on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   (589)  (25,485) 
Currency translation differences   (47,386)  32,643  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax   (47,976)  7,158  
      
Total comprehensive income for the year   418,730   318,191  
      
Attributed to:      
Equity holders of the company   366,157   265,665  
Non-controlling interest   52,572   52,526  
      
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year   418,730   318,191  
      
 
      
 
       
      
 

  2012 2011 
 Notes  Shs’000   Shs’000  
Assets 
Cash and balances with Central Banks 12  2,074,243   1,882,958  
Government and other securities Held to maturity  13(a)  6,050,532   6,566,183  
Government and other securities Available for sale 13(b) 1,074,177   590,811  
Deposits and balances due from other banks 14 693,859  573,400 
Amounts due from group companies  38,409   -  
Loans and advances to customers (net) 15 14,180,269   11,835,689  
Current Income tax recoverable  18,139   -  
Property and equipment 17(a)  620,092   641,588  
Investment in associate 16(b)  18,625   -  
Intangible assets-software 19 16,103   30,477  
Intangible assets - goodwill 22 21,812   21,812  
Deferred income tax 20  9,161   -  
Other assets 21  447,978   502,095  
Total assets                      25,263,399                22,645,013  
      
Liabilities      
Customer deposits  23  21,450,141   19,205,790  
Deposits due to other banks 24  297,461   430,839  
Amounts due to group companies  129,355  -  
Borrowings 25 261,433   253,911  
Deferred income tax 20  57,556   34,465  
Current income tax payable   55,586   53,972  
Other liabilities 26  271,977   323,867  
Total liabilities                      22,523,509               20,302,844  
      
Capital and reserves attributable to the company’s equity holders      
Share capital 27  731,249   528,308  
Share premium                                                                       27 637,272   154,922  
Statutory reserve 28 50,628  58,451  
Other reserves 29  (1,842)  28,856  
Retained earnings  1,233,554   1,129,806  
Non controlling interests   89,029   441,826  
Total equity   2,739,890   2,342,169  
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity                      25,263,399                22,645,013  
      
The financial statements on pages 79 to 142 were approved by the board of directors on March 22, 2013 and were signed on its behalf by:     
     
_______________                                       ___________________                                 ________________                                         ________________     
          Director                                                        Director                                                         Director                                                             Secretary     
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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  2012 2011
 Notes Shs’000  Shs’000
Assets    
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya 12                          738,382                      791,506 
Government and other securities Held to maturity 13(a)  4,613,330                   4,956,530 
Government and other securities Available for sale 13(b) 1,074,177   590,811 
Deposits and balances due from other banks 14  461,380   233,010 
Amounts due from group companies 32(a)  115,427   64,540 
Loans and advances to customers (net) 15  8,742,625   7,276,704
Current  income tax recoverable   18,139   - 
Investment in subsidiary 16(a)  870,339  164,039
Investment in associate 16(b)  51,927   31,123 
Property and equipment 17(b)  186,059   194,776
Intangible assets - software 19  8,891   14,780 
Deferred income tax 20  9,161   13,144 
Other assets 21  262,608   299,496
Total assets                      17,152,445                14,630,459 
    
Liabilities    
Customer deposits  23                     13,746,534                12,395,095 
Deposits due to other banks 24 374,479   289,140 
Amounts due to group companies 32(b)  182,212   58,673 
Borrowings 25  195,767   195,790 
Current  income tax payable   -   27,601
Other liabilities 26  149,778  128,627 
Total liabilities                      14,648,770                13,094,926 
    
Capital and reserves attributable to the company’s equity holders    
Share capital 27                           731,249                     528,308 
Share premium                                                                       27 637,272   154,922 
Statutory reserve 28  32,170   26,335 
Revaluation reserves 29  (11,293)  (10,704)
Retained earnings   1,114,277   836,672 
   
 
Total shareholders equity                        2,503,675                  1,535,533 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity                      17,152,445                14,630,459 
    
 
    
 

BANK STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION    At 31 December



       Non
 Share Share Retained Regulatory Other  Controlling Total  
 capital premium   earnings reserve reserves  Total Interest Equity  
  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000  
    
Year ended 31 December 2011     
    
At start of year  528,308   154,922   885,152   30,162   36,134   1,634,678   389,300   2,023,978 
Total comprehensive income
 for the year          
Profit for the year  -     -   272,943   -     -     272,943  38,090  311,033 
Other Comprehensive Income:          
Available-for-sale financial 
 assets net of tax  -     -     -     -           (25,485)  (25,485)  -     (25,485)
Currency translation differences  -     -     -     -     18,207   18,207   14,436   32,643
Transfer to regulatory reserves  -     -     (28,289)  28,289   -    -     -    -   

Total Other Comprehensive Income -     -     (28,289)  28,289   (7,278)  (7,278)  14,436   7,158 
 
  -     -    244,654   28,289   (7,278)  265,665   52,526  318,191 
At end of year  528,308     154,922     1,129,806    58,451      28,856     1,900,343  441,826      2,342,169 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
       Non   
 Share Share Retained Regulatory Other  Controlling   
 capital   premium  earnings  reserve     reserves Total Interest Total Equity
 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Year ended 31 December 2012         
At start of year  528,308   154,922     1,129,806     58,451      28,856   1,900,343     441,826      2,342,169  
Total comprehensive income
 for the year          
Profit for the year  -     -     384,701   -     -     384,701   82,004   466,705  
Other Comprehensive Income:          
Available-for-sale financial 
   assets net of tax  -     -     -     -     (589)  (589)  -     (589) 
Currency translation differences  -     -     -     -    (17,954)  (17,954)  (29,432)  (47,386) 
Transfer to regulatory reserves  -     -     (17,546)  17,546   -     -     -     -    
Transfer to retained earnings of 
   excess depreciation on movement - -  2,330  -  (2,330)  -    -  -    
Total Other Comprehensive Income  -     -     (15,216)  17,546   (20,873)  (18,544)  (29,432)  (47,976) 
Total Comprehensive income  -     -     369,485   17,546   (20,873)  366,157   52,572   418,730  
Transactions with owners:          
Issue of shares  202,941   482,350   -     -     -     685,291   -     685,291  
Change in ownership interests in 
subsidiary through share swaps  -     -     (265,737)  (25,369)  (9,825)  (300,930)  (405,369)  (706,299) 
At end of year  731,249   637,272   1,233,554     50,628     (1,842)   2,650,861   89,029     2,739,890  
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BANK STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
  Share Share Retained Regulatory Other   
  capital premium   earnings reserve reserves  Total   
  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Year ended 31 December 2011         
At start of year   528,308                   154,922               633,325                     4,787                      14,781             1,336,123  
Total comprehensive income 
for the year         
Profit for the year   -     -     224,895   -     -     224,895  
Other Comprehensive Income:         
Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax   -     -     -     -     (25,485)  (25,485) 
Transfer to regulatory reserves   -     -     (21,548)  21,548   -     -    
         
Total Other Comprehensive Income   -     -     (21,548)  21,548   (25,485)  (25,485) 
Total Comprehensive income   -     -     203,347   21,548   (25,485)  199,410  
At end of year   528,308   154,922   836,672  26,335   (10,704)  1,535,533 
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BANK STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

  Share Share Retained Regulatory Other   
  capital premium   earnings reserve reserves  Total   
  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Year ended 31 December 2012          
  
At start of year   528,308  154,922   836,672   26,335   (10,704)    1,535,533 
Total comprehensive income for the year         
Profit for the year   -     -     283,438   -     -    283,438 
Other Comprehensive Income:         
Available-for-sale financial assets net of tax   -     -     -     -    (589) (589)
Transfer to regulatory reserves   -     -     (5,835) 5,835  -    -   
Total Other Comprehensive Income   -     -     (5,835) 5,835   (589) (589)
Total Comprehensive Income   -     -    277,604   5,835  (589) 282,849 
Issue of shares   202,941   482,350  - - - 685,291 
At end of year   731,249  637,272  1,114,277  32,170   (11,293) 2,503,674 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
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  2012 2011
 Notes Shs’000 Shs’000

Cashflow flows from operating activities   
Interest receipts   2,974,126   2,136,901 
Interest payments   (1,600,948)  (976,144)
Net fee and commission receipts  427,098   467,035 
Other income received   239,329   146,417 
Recoveries from loans previously written off   24,057   216,127 
Payments to employees and suppliers  (1,570,830)  (1,385,593)
Income tax paid   (140,242)  (59,269)

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in 
operating assets and liabilities   352,591   545,474 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Loans and advances   (2,429,961)  (1,423,626)
Cash reserve requirement   4,197   (115,458)
Corporate Bonds   (24,984)  -   
Government securities maturing 90 days after date of acquisition   (35,863)  (1,178,919)
Other assets   62,692   (90,561)
Customer deposits   2,389,834   2,316,864 
Other liabilities   (58,486)  26,533 
Amounts due to/from group companies   72,652   -   

Net cash generated from operating activities   (19,920)  (465,167)
    
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment 17  (92,509)  (136,076)
Purchase of intangible assets 19  (4,022)  (8,230)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   722   3,490 
  
Net cash generated from investing activities   (95,809)  (140,816)
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Long term debt   -     (163,005)
Net cash generated from financing activities  -                       (163,005)
    
Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   236,863                       (223,514)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year   1,884,804                     2,108,318 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 31  2,121,667   1,884,804 
    
 
    
    
  

At 31 December
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General Information          
 Fina Bank Limited (the Bank) is incorporated in Kenya under the Companies Act as a limited liability company, and is domiciled in Kenya. The address of 

its registered office is:          
           
 LR. Plot No. 209/X11/624          
 FINA House, Kimathi Street          
 P O Box 20613          
 Nairobi-00200          
           
 For Kenya Companies Act purposes, the balance sheet is represented by the statement of financial position and the profit and loss account by income 

statement, in these financial statements          
           
2 Summary of significant accounting policies          
 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied 

to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.          
           
2.1 Basis of preparation          
 The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board. Additional information required by national regulations is included where appropriate. The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale financial assets and all derivative contracts, which have been measured at fair 
value.          

           
 The disclosures on risks from financial instruments are presented in the financial risk management report contained in Note 4.     

     
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the directors 

to exercise judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial 
statements in the period the assumptions changed. The directors believe that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the Group’s financial 
statements therefore present the financial position and results fairly. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.         
 

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures          
        (a)   New and amended standards adopted by the group         
 There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2012 that would be    

expected to have a material impact on the Bank.          
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      
       
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)      
        (b) New standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted        

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2012, and   
have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of   
the Bank, except the following set out below:          

           
 Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ regarding other comprehensive income. The main change resulting from these   

amendments is a requirement for entities to group items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially 
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The amendments do not address which items are presented in OCI. The application 
of this amendment will mainly impact the presentation of the primary statements.         
 

 IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of 
fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not 
extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards 
within IFRSs or US GAAP. The application of IFRS 13 may enhance fair value disclosures in a lot of circumstances.      
    

 IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. Issued in November 
2009 and October 2011, it replaces the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial 
assets to be classified into two measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured at amortised cost. The determination is 
made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the 
fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income 
rather than the income statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The directors are yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and intend to adopt IFRS 
9 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The directors will also consider the impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 
when completed by the IASB.      

       
 There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Bank.   

   
2.2 Consolidation      
       (i) Subsidiaries     
 Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally 

accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.  The Group also assesses existence of control where it does not have 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 
 (i) Subsidiaries (continued)
 more than 50% of the voting power but is able to govern the financial and operating policies by virtue of de-facto control. De-facto control may arise in 

circumstances where the size of the Group’s voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of other shareholders give the Group the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies, etc. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are 
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases. 

     
 The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a 

subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

      
 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 

remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.   
 

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity.      

 
 Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling interest over the net 

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
 Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from 

intercompany transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.      

       
        (ii) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control     
 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the 

owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of 
net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
       
        (iii) Disposal of subsidiaries     
 When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change 

in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained 
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.      

  
        (iv) Associates     
 Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% 

of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investments are 
initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit of loss of the investee after the 
date of acquisition. The Group’s investments in associates include goodwill identified on acquisition.      

       
 If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in 

other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss as appropriate.      
       
 The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive 

income is recognised in other comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.  When the Group’s share 
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.      

 
 The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, 

the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises 
the amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/(loss) of an associate’ in profit or loss.      

 
 Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associates are recognised in the Group’s financial 

statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. Dilution gains and losses arising from investments in associates are recognised as profit or loss.     
 

 In the separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect 
changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.   
    

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
 
2.3 Foreign currency translation 
 (i) Functional and presentation currency     
 Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 

the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in ‘Kenyan Shillings (Kshs), which is the Group’s presentation 
currency.      

       
        (ii) Transactions and balances     
 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation 

where items are re-measured.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.     
 

 Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in profit or loss within ‘finance income or cost’. 
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss within ‘other income’ or ‘other expenses’.    

 Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in other 
comprehensive income and cumulated in ‘available-for-sale financial assets reserve’.      

       
        (iii) Group companies     
 The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency 

different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:      
       
 (a) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period;   

(b) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation   
 of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the   
 transactions); 

  and     
 (c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in ‘transaction reserve’ in equity.   

  
 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 

the closing rate.  Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      
       
2.4 Interest income and expense       
 Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for trading or designated at fair value through 

profit or loss, are recognised within ‘interest income’ or ‘interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective interest method.    
  

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  The 
calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
all other premiums or discounts.      

       
 Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognized using 

the rate of interest that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.     
 

2.5 Fees and commission income and expense      
 Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely 

to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.   
   

2.6 Sale and repurchase agreements      
 Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (‘repos’) are reclassified in the financial statements as pledged assets when the transferee has the 

right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral; the counterparty liability is included in deposits from banks or deposits from customers, 
as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreements to resell (‘reverse repos’) are recorded as loans and advances to other banks or customers, as 
appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest 
method. Securities lent to counterparties are also retained in the financial statements.      

       
2.7 Financial assets and liabilities      
 
2.7.1 Financial assets      
 The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 

and available-for-sale financial assets. The directors determine the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. The Bank uses trade date 
accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions.      
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      
 
2.7 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)      
 
2.7.1 Financial assets (continued) 
        (a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     
 This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets classified as held for trading, and financial assets designated by the Bank as at fair value 

through profit or loss upon initial recognition.      
 
 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it 

is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking.       

       
 Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments. All derivatives are carried as assets 

when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.      
       
 The Bank designates certain financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). This designation cannot 

subsequently be changed and can only be applied when the following conditions are met:      
       
  • the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise or     
  • the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instruments which is risk managed and reported to senior management on a fair value basis or 

 • the financial assets consist of debt host and an embedded derivatives that must be separated.      
 
 Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction costs are taken directly to profit or loss. Gains and losses 

arising from changes in fair value are included directly in profit or loss and are reported as ‘Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments classified as held 
for trading’. Interest income and expense and dividend income and expenses on financial assets held for trading are included in ‘Net interest income’ or 
‘Dividend income’, respectively . Fair value changes relating to financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in ‘Net gains 
on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss’.      
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      
 
2.7 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)      
 
2.7.1 Financial assets (continued)      
        (b) Loans and receivables     
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than:   

    
 • those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified as held for trading, and those that the Bank upon initial                 

 recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss;      
 • those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or     
 • those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.     

 
 Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the loan including any transaction 

costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.      
       
        (c) Held-to-maturity investments     
 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the directors have the 

positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than:      
       
 • those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss;      
  • those that the Bank designates as available-for-sale; and     
  • those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.     
 
 Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and measured subsequently at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.      
       
        (d) Available-for-sale financial assets     
 Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs 

for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.       

       
 Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including any transaction costs, and measured 

subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and cumulated in a separate reserve in 
equity, revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is derecognised. However, interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign 
currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in profit or loss.       
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      
 
2.7 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)        
 
2.7.2 Financial liabilities      
 The Bank’s holding in financial liabilities represents mainly deposits from banks and customers and other liabilities. Such financial liabilities are initially 

recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.      
       
2.7.3 Determination of fair value      
 For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair values of financial instruments is based on quoted market prices or dealer price 

quotations. This includes listed equity securities and quoted debt instruments on major exchanges and broker quotes from Bloomberg and Reuters. 
 

 A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, 
industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-offer 
spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions.      

       
 For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data 

in respect of similar financial instruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash flows or other valuation techniques, using 
inputs (for example, LIBOR yield curve, FX rates, volatilities and counterparty spreads) existing at the reporting dates.    

 The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised financial instruments of lower complexity, such as 
options or interest rate and currency swaps. For these financial instruments, inputs into models are generally market-observable.    
  

 For more complex instruments, the Bank uses internally developed models, which are usually based on valuation methods and techniques generally 
recognised as standard within the industry. Valuation models such as present value techniques are used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the 
over-the-counter market, unlisted debt securities (including those with embedded derivatives) and other debt instruments for which markets were or have 
become illiquid. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on assumptions. The impact on net 
profit of financial instrument valuations reflecting non-market observable inputs (level 3 valuations) is disclosed in Note 3.  

 
 The Bank uses its own credit risk spreads in determining the current value for its derivative liabilities and all other liabilities for which it has elected the 

fair value option. When the Bank’s credit spreads widen, the Bank recognises a gain on these liabilities because the value of the liabilities has decreased. 
When the Bank’s credit spreads narrow, the Bank recognises a loss on these liabilities because the value of the liabilities has increased.   
In cases when the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the instruments are carried at cost less impairment.    
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The fair values of contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments correspond to their carrying amounts.      

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      
 
2.7 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)        
 
2.7.4 Derecognition        
 Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been 

transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and rewards 
have not been transferred, the Bank tests control to ensure that continuing involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent 
derecognition). Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.       

       
2.7.5 Reclassification of financial assets      
 The Bank may choose to reclassify a non-derivative financial asset held for trading out of the held-for-trading category if the financial asset is no longer held 

for the purpose of selling it in the near-term. Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted to be reclassified out of the held for trading 
category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near-term. In addition, the Bank may choose 
to reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-for-sale categories if the Bank 
has the intention and ability to hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification.     
  

 Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals 
of fair value gains or losses recorded before reclassification date are subsequently made.  Effective interest rates for financial assets reclassified to loans 
and receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at the reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective 
interest rates prospectively.

 
 On reclassification of a financial asset out of the ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ category, all embedded derivatives are re-assessed and, if necessary, 

separately accounted for.       
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)      
 
2.7 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)      
 
2.7.6 Classes of financial instruments      
 The Bank classifies the financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of information and take into account the characteristics of those financial 

instruments. The classification made can be seen in the table as follows:      
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Subclasses
Debt securities
Equity securities

Derivatives – non-hedging
Debt securities
Equity securities
Loans and advances to 
banksLoans and advances to 
customers

Overdrafts
Credit cards
Term loans
Mortgages
Large corporate 
Customers
SMEs
Others
Listed
Unlisted
ListedInvestment securities - debt 

instruments ListedInvestment securities - debt 
instruments Listed

Listed
Unlisted

Retail customers
Large corporate 
customers
SMEs

Financial 
liabilities at 
armortised cost

Deposits from banks

Investment securities - debt 
instruments

(as defined by IAS 39)
Class (as determined by the Bank)

Loans and 
receivables

Deposits from customers

Financial assets 
at fair value 
through profit or 
loss

Financial assets held for 
trading

Off-balance 
sheet 

financial 
Instruments

Loan commitments

Guarantees, acceptances and other financial 
facilities

Loans to individuals 
(retail)

Loans to corporate 
entities

Loans and advances to 
customers

Financial 
assets

Available-for-
sale financial 
assets

Investment securities - equity 
securities

Financial assets designated at 
fair value through profit or loss

Loans and advances to banks

Held-to-maturity 
Investments

Investment securities - debt 
instruments



ANNUAL
REPORT

&
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
DECEMBER

2012

NOTES (continued)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)          
           
2.8 Impairment of financial assets          
 (a) Assets carried at amortised cost         
 The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.          
 

 The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:       
(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;         

 (b) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;        
(c) the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would   
 not otherwise consider;          

 (d) it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;        
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or        
(f) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial  
 recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:   
  

   (i)    adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and        
   (ii)   national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.       

 
 The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by the directors for each identified portfolio. In general, the periods used 

vary between 3 and 12 months; in exceptional cases, longer periods are warranted.          
 

 The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are 
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.          

           
 The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 

future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical 
expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.    
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)          
           
2.8 Impairment of financial assets (continued)  
 The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs 

for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.          
           
 For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (that is, on the basis 

of the Bank’s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those 
characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.          

           
2.9 Property and equipment       
 Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their 

estimated useful lives, as follows:      
       
 Buildings     Over remaining period of the land lease  
 Fixtures, fittings and equipment  12.50%  
 Computer hardware and software    40%  
 Motor vehicles    25%  
       
 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. Assets are reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.      
 

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in ‘other operating expenses’ in profit or 
loss.      

       
2.10 Intangible assets      
       (i) Goodwill     
 Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the Company’s interest 

in net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree.       

       
 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to 

benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at 
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.     
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)          
 
2.10  Intangible assets (continued)
 (i) Goodwill (continued)  
 Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The 

carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment 
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.      

       
 (ii) Computer software     
 Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.  These costs are 

amortised over their estimated useful lives (three to five years).      
       
2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets      
 Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are 

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of 
the impairment at each reporting date.              

 
2.12 Income tax      
        (a) Current income tax     
 The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax.  Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity 
respectively.      

       
 The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The directors periodically 

evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. They establish provisions 
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 
        (b) Deferred income tax     
 Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; 
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)          
 
2.12 Income tax (continued)      
(b) Deferred income tax (continued)
 the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 

been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.      

       
 Deferred income tax assets are categorized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary 

differences can be categorised.      
       
 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets against current income tax 

liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same entity 
or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.      

       
2.13 Accounting for leases      
 Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  All other leases 

are classified as finance leases.      
       
        (i) With the Group as lessee     
 Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.     

  
        (ii) With the Group as lessor     
 When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is categorized as a receivable.  The difference between the 

gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is categorized as unearned finance income.  Lease income is categorized over the term of the 
lease using the net investment method (before income tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.      

       
2.14 Cash and cash equivalents      
 Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 

three months or less, including: cash and non-restricted balances with the Central Banks, Treasury and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other 
banks.  Cash and cash equivalents excludes the cash reserve requirement held with the Central Banks.      
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits      
        (i) Retirement benefit obligations     
 The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for its employees.  The Group and all its employees also contribute to the appropriate 
 National Social Security Fund, which are defined contribution schemes.  A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed 

contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets 
to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.      

       
 The assets of all schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds, which are funded by contributions from both the Group and employees.    

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement in the year in which they fall due.    
  

        (ii) Other entitlements     
 Employee entitlements to long service awards are categorized when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for such 

entitlements as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.      
       
 The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the balance sheet date is categorized as an expense accrual. 

2.16 Borrowings      
 Borrowings are categorized initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of transaction costs incurred.  

Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is categorized 
in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.      

       
2.17 Offsetting      
 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 

categorized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or categorise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.     
 

2.18 Dividends payable      
 Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are declared.  Proposed dividends are shown as a separate component of 

equity until declared.      
       
2.19 Acceptances and letters of credit      
 Acceptances and letters of credit are accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions and disclosed as contingent liabilities.     
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3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies       
   

 The Group’s financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and management judgement, 
which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the financial statements.          
 

 The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. All estimates and 
assumptions required in conformity with IFRS are best estimates undertaken in accordance with the applicable standard. Estimates and judgements are 
evaluated on a continuous basis, and are based on past experience and other factors, including expectations with regard to future events.    
       

 Accounting policies and management’s judgements for certain items are especially critical for the Group’s results and financial situation due to their 
materiality.          

           
        (a) Impairment losses on loans and advances         
 The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in 

the income statement, the group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with that portfolio. This evidence may include 
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 
experience.           

           
        (b) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments         
 The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below 

its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the group evaluates among other factors, 
the volatility in share price. In addition, objective evidence of impairment may be deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector 
performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.          

           
        (c) Fair value of financial instruments         
 The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not otherwise available are determined by using valuation 

techniques. In these cases, the fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments or using models. Where market 
observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to 
determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of those that sourced them. All models are certified 
before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, models 
use only observable data; however, areas such as credit risk (both own credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities and correlations require management 
to make estimates.          
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3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)     
  

        (d) Held-to-maturity investments         
 In accordance with IAS 39 guidance, the group classifies some non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as 

held to maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such 
investments to maturity. If the group were to fail to keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an 
insignificant amount close to maturity – the group is required to reclassify the entire category as available for sale. Accordingly, the investments would be 
measured at fair value instead of amortised cost. If all held-to-maturity investments were to be so reclassified, the carrying value would reduce by Shs 317 
million (2011: decrease by Shs 800 million), with a corresponding entry in the fair value reserve in shareholders’ equity.      
    

        (e) Impairment of goodwill         
 The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.10(i). The recoverable 

amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. The carrying amount of the goodwill and the key assumptions 
made are set out in Note 22.          

          
        (f) Income taxes         
 The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes. There 

are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made.          

          
4 Financial risk management
      
 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk 

and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or 
combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the Group’s business, and the financial risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group’s 
aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and categorise potential adverse effects on its financial performance. 
 

 Financial risk management is carried out by the Treasury and Credit department under policies approved by the Board of Directors.  Treasury identifies, 
evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as 
well as written policies covering specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative and non-derivative financial 
instruments.           
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4 Financial risk management (Continued)
 (a) Credit risk        
 The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to the Group by failing to pay amounts in full when 

due. Credit risk is the most important risk for the Group’s business: management therefore carefully manages the exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures 
arise principally in lending and investment activities. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments. Credit 
risk management and control is categorized in the credit risk management department, which reports regularly to the Board Credit Committee.   
      

 The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of 
borrowers, and to industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to annual or more frequent review.  Limits on the level of 
credit risk by product, industry sector and by country are approved quarterly by the Board of Directors.        
 

 The exposure to any one borrower including banks is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures and daily delivery risk 
limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily.    
     

 Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment 
obligations and by changing lending limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and 
personal guarantees, but a significant portion is personal lending where no such facilities can be obtained.       
  

 Credit related commitments         
 The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.  Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which 

represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same 
credit risk as loans.  Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer categorized a third 
party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are categorizations by the underlying shipments of goods 
to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.         

          
 Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of categorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit.  With 

respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.  
However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers 
maintaining specific credit standards.  The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have 
a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.         
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(a)   Credit risk (continued)       
 
  Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral                                             
                     Group                                                                  Bank 
     2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
         

 Balances with Central Banks    833,862   1,051,400   556,792   612,552 
  Government & other securities held to maturity        6,050,532 6,566,183   4,613,330   4,956,530 
  Government & other securities available for sale  1,074,177   590,811   1,074,177   590,811 
  Deposits and balances due from other banks   693,859   573,400   461,380   233,010 
  Loans and advances to customers    14,180,269   11,835,690   8,742,625   7,276,704 
  Other assets    355,306   447,959   198,191   205,386 
  Credit exposure relating to off-balance sheet items:      

 - Acceptances and letters of credit    1,253,768   416,525   1,054,693   324,296 
  - Guarantees and performance bonds    1,355,123   913,685   892,168   696,623
  - Commitments to lend    3,403,721   2,535,118   1,795,978   646,944 
     29,200,619  24,930,771   19,389,334   15,542,856 
         

 The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2012 and 2011, without taking account of any  
 collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on carrying amounts as  
 reported in the statement of financial position.      
 

  As shown above, 49% of the total maximum exposure of the Group is derived from loans and advances to banks and customers (2011: 48%). 25%   
 represents investments in debt securities (2011: 29%).      
 

  Management is confident on its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Group resulting from both its loan and  
 advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:     

  
  • 93% of the loans and advances portfolio are neither past due nor impaired     

 • 78% of the loans and advances portfolio are backed by collateral     
 • 96% of the investments in debt securities are government securities.     
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)         
(a)   Credit risk (continued)       
 
 Loans and advances are categorized as follows:        

                                                                                                                                                      Group                                                                 Bank 
     2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

 Neither past due nor impaired    13,588,099  10,435,590   8,624,281   6,768,025  
 Past due but not impaired    366,992   895,208   85,600   403,407  
 Impaired    594,184   918,345   329,810   450,666  
 Gross   14,549,275   12,249,143   9,039,690   7,622,098  
 Less:allowance for impairment (Note 15)    369,007   413,454   297,065   345,394  
      14,180,269  11,835,689   8,742,625  7,276,704  
         
 No other financial assets are either past due or impaired.      
 
 Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired         
 The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal rating 
 system adopted by the Group:        

 
                                      Group                                             Bank   

    2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 
 Standard    13,588,099  10,435,590   8,624,281   6,768,025 
 Watch    366,992   895,208   85,600   403,407   
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)         
(a)   Credit risk (continued)       
 
 Loans and advances are categorized as follows:        

                                                                                                                                                      Group                                                                 Bank 
     2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

 Neither past due nor impaired    13,588,099  10,435,590   8,624,281   6,768,025  
 Past due but not impaired    366,992   895,208   85,600   403,407  
 Impaired    594,184   918,345   329,810   450,666  
 Gross   14,549,275   12,249,143   9,039,690   7,622,098  
 Less:allowance for impairment (Note 15)    369,007   413,454   297,065   345,394  
      14,180,269  11,835,689   8,742,625  7,276,704  
         
 No other financial assets are either past due or impaired.      
 
 Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired         
 The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the internal rating 
 system adopted by the Group:        

 
                                      Group                                             Bank   

    2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 
 Standard    13,588,099  10,435,590   8,624,281   6,768,025 
 Watch    366,992   895,208   85,600   403,407   

      
 

4  Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(a)   Credit risk (continued)

 Loans and advances past due but not impaired       
 Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross 
 amounts of loans and advances that were past due but not impaired were as follows:     

    
                                                                  Group                                             Bank   

    2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
      
 Past due up to 30 days    290,455   743,999   76,789   365,154 
 Past due 31 – 60 days    53,075  101,212   7,428   34,604 
 Past due 61 – 90 days    23,462   49,997   1,383   3,650 
 Total     366,992  895,208   85,600   403,407 
 
 Loans and advances individually impaired         
 Of the total gross amount of impaired loans, the following amounts have been individually assessed:     

    
                                                                   Group                                             Bank 
     2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 
 Individually assessed impaired loans and advances       

-  Corporate    416,167   690,426   304,573  404,571  
 -  Retail    178,017   227,919   25,237   46,095  
 Gross    594,184   918,345   329,810   450,666  
 Fair value of collateral held    406,890   720,205   162,218   375,708  
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

(b) Concentration of risk       
 Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan and  deposit portfolios were as follows:        

 
       (i) Loans and advances   
                                      Group                                              Bank  

    2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Manufacturing    18% 19% 23% 25%
 Wholesale and retail trade   39% 38% 31% 29%
 Transport and communications   6% 5% 6% 5%
 Business services   5% 5% 3% 3% 

Agricultural    4% 5% 6% 7%
 Individuals   9% 7% 5% 2%
 Other    18% 21% 27% 29%
 Gross   100% 100% 100% 100% 

        
(ii) Customer Deposits

                                       Group                                                                  Bank  
    2012 2011 2012 2011

     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Private enterprises   43% 43% 32% 32%
 Non-profit making organization and individuals                                              47% 48% 64% 64%
 Others   10% 9% 4% 4%
 Gross   100% 100% 100% 100%

 (iii) Off-balance sheet Items                                     Group                                              Bank  
    2012 2011 2012 2011

     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Manufacturing   24% 33% 18% 28%
 Wholesale, retail trade and hotels   26% 24% 28% 34%
 Others   50% 43% 54% 38%
 Gross   100% 100% 100% 100%
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
(c)    Liquidity risk  
 
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities as they fall due and to replace funds 

when they are withdrawn. The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts, maturing deposits, 
and calls on cash settled contingencies. The Group does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience shows that a minimum 
level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty. The regulatory bodies of the respective countries require that the 
Group maintain a cash reserve ratio. In addition, the Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet such calls and on 
the minimum level of inter-bank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand. The Treasury 
department monitors liquidity ratios on a daily basis.              
The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable by the Group under financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the balance 
sheet date and receivable from financial assets by expected maturity dates.  All figures are in thousands of Kenya Shillings.  

 (i) Group 
 At December 2012                Upto 1 month 1 - 3 months             3 - 12 month    1 - 5   years          Over 5 years Total
   Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Liabilities       

Customer deposits  8,954,148  8,122,888   4,424,399   135,041   -     21,636,476 
 Deposits and balances due to 
 banking institutions  556,647   -     -     -     -     556,647 
 Borrowings  1,572   2,991   13,943   339,450   -     357,956 
 Other liabilities 233,393   56,898   92,274   -     -     382,565 
 Total financial liabilities 
 (contractual maturity dates)  9,745,761   8,182,777   4,530,616  474,491   -     22,933,644 
 Asset      
 Cash and balances with Central Banks  1,795,006   211,448   62,079   5,712   -     2,074,244 
 Government and other Securities held  516,638  656,981  1,320,994   2,324,213   2,305,883  7,124,710 
 Deposits and balances due from
  banking institutions  757,417   -     -     -     -     757,417 
 Loans and advances to customers  4,489,429   3,016,772   2,632,905   6,348,285   917,029  17,404,420 
 Other financial assets  358,495   -     87,084   -     -     445,578 
 Total financial assets
 (expected maturity dates) 7,916,984   3,885,201   4,103,062   8,678,210   3,222,912  27,806,370  
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
(c)    Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
  (i) Group 
 
 At December 2011 Upto 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months 1 - 5   years Over 5 years Total
  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

 Liabilities
 Customer deposits  7,648,145  7,227,625   4,317,924   174,832   143,181   19,511,707  
 Deposits and balances due to banking institutions  494,854   -     -     -     -     494,854  
 Borrowings  1,580   3,007   14,016   132,534   212,085   363,222  
 Other liabilities  327,024   2,197   38,694   -     -      367,915  
 Total financial liabilities
 (contractual maturity dates)  8,471,603  7,232,829   4,370,634   307,366   355,266   20,737,698  
 Assets      
 Cash and balances with Central Banks  1,548,778   194,483   130,910   8,788   -     1,882,959  
 Government and other Securities held  987,890   171,047   871,373   3,521,796   1,604,697   7,156,803  
 Deposits and balances due from
  banking institutions  527,786   -     -     -     -     527,786  
 Loans and advances to customers  3,900,436   1,961,653   1,439,508   6,013,058   635,339   13,949,994  
 Other financial assets  440,666   -     91,367   -     -     532,033  
 Total financial assets
 (expected maturity dates)  7,405,556   2,327,183   2,533,158   9,543,642   2,240,036   24,049,575  
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
 (c)   Liquidity risk (continued)
 
 (ii) Bank       
 
 At December 2012 Upto 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months 1 - 5   years Over 5 years Total
  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Liabilities        

Customer deposits  7,358,210   4,891,299   1,548,319   135,041   -     13,932,869 
 Deposits and balances due to banking institutions  556,647   -     -     -     -     556,647 
 Amounts due to group companies  -     -     -     -     -     - 
 Borrowings  1,572   2,991   13,943   273,783   -     292,289 
 Other liabilities  147,226   -     -     -     -     147,226 
 Total financial liabilities 
 (contractual maturity dates)  8,063,655   4,894,290   1,562,262   408,824   -     14,929,031 
 Assets   
 Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya  459,144   211,448   62,079   5,712   -     738,382 
 Government and other Securities held  50,000   357,000   1,054,344   1,990,900   2,235,263   5,687,507 
 Deposits and balances due from
 banking institutions  576,508   -     -     -     -     576,508  
 Amounts due from group companies 299   -     -     -     -     299  
 Loans and advances to customers  3,269,678   1,641,520   2,014,696   4,365,811   675,072   11,966,776  
 Other financial assets  287,355   -     -     -     -     287,355  
 Total financial assets 
 (expected maturity dates)  4,642,984   2,209,967   3,131,118   6,362,423   2,910,335   19,256,828  
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(c)   Liquidity risk (continued)

 (ii) Bank        
At December 2011 Upto 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months 1 - 5   years Over 5 years Total

  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Liabilities        

Customer deposits  6,166,031   3,744,754   2,615,394   174,832   -     12,701,011  
 Deposits and balances due to banking institutions  347,288   -     -     -     -     347,288  
 Amounts due to group companies  -     -     -     -     -     -    
 Borrowings  1,580   3,007   14,016   74,413   212,085   305,101  
 Other liabilities  173,146   -     -     -     -     173,146 
 Total financial liabilities 
 (contractual maturity dates)  6,688,045   3,747,761   2,629,410   249,244   212,085   13,526,546   

Assets       
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya  457,325   194,483   130,910   8,788   -     791,506 

 Government and other Securities held  99,804   100,000   648,000   3,094,650   1,604,697   5,547,151 
 Deposits and balances due from 
 banking institutions  285,238   -     -     -     -     285,238 
 Amounts due from group companies  7,545   -     -     -     -     7,545 
 Loans and advances to customers  3,152,083   478,372   918,337   4,431,558   411,676   9,392,026 
 Other financial assets  337,410   -     -     -     -     337,410 
 Total financial assets 
 (expected maturity dates)  4,339,405   772,855  1,697,247   7,534,996   2,016,373   16,360,876 
         

NOTES (continued)
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(d)   Market risk      
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, which include currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the fair value or future cash flows 

of a financial instrument. Market risk arises from open positions in interest rates and foreign currencies, both of which are exposed to general and specific 
market movements and changes in the level of volatility. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable limits, while the return on risk. Overall responsibility for managing market risk rests with the Board Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The 
Treasury department is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and for the day to 
day implementation of those policies.        
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 Group       
At December 2012  USD GBP EURO Other Total

   Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Assets       

Cash and balances with Central Banks   794,669   16,148   78,384   19   889,221
 Deposits and balances due from banking institutions   557,463   18,723   91,027   13,558   680,772 
 Loans and advances to customers  1,742,314   6,305   65,209  310  1,814,137 
 Other financial assets   67,360   24   42,744   -     110,128  
 Total Assets   3,161,807   41,200   277,364   13,887   3,494,258  
 Liabilities        

Customer deposits   2,507,685   93,064   212,419   65,093   2,878,260  
 Deposits and balances due to banking institutions   487,055   -     65,376   2,979   555,410  
 Other liabilities  21,015   3   44   1,650   22,711  
 Total liabilities  3,015,755   93,067   277,838   69,721   3,456,381  
 Net on Balance sheet position  146,051   (51,867)  (474)  (55,834)  37,876  
 Net off Balance sheet position  (133,325)  54,913   56,137   323   (21,952) 
 Overall position   12,726   3,046   55,663   (55,511)  15,924  
 At 31 December 2011        

Total Assets   2,762,397   114,893   282,312   8,165   3,167,767  
 Total Liabilities   2,458,167   77,951   278,977   6,641   2,821,736  
 Net on Balance sheet position   304,230   36,942   3,335   1,524   346,031  
 Net off Balance sheet position   814,857   95,637   76,570   (587)  986,477  
 Overall position   1,119,087   132,579   79,905   937   1,332,507  
       

4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)      
(d)   Market risk (continued)      
 
 (i) Currency risk      

Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board 
sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.    
 

 The table below summarizes the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 December 2012. Included in the table 
are the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments categorized by currency. All figures are in thousands of Kenya Shillings. 
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)        
(d)  Market risk (continued)       
 
 (i) Currency risk (continued) 
 
 Bank
 At December 2012  USD GBP EURO Other Total
   Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

 Assets        
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya   61,015   747   4,792   -     66,553 

 Deposits and balances due from banking institutions   460,984   15,463   31,358   6,444   514,249 
 Loans and advances to customers   1,531,875   6,297   65,019   -     1,603,192 
 Total Assets   2,053,874   22,507   101,169   6,444   2,183,994 
 Liabilities        

Customer deposits   1,309,829   81,467  36,988   3,213   1,431,497 
 Deposits and balances due to banking institutions   487,055   -     65,376   2,979   555,410 
 Total liabilities   1,796,884   81,467   102,364   6,192   1,986,907 
 Net on Balance sheet position   256,989   (58,960)  (1,195)  252   197,087 
 Net off Balance sheet position   (273,291)  54,913   (2,973)  323   (221,028)
 Overall position   (16,302)  (4,047)  (4,168)  575   (23,941)
 At 31 December 2011        

Total Assets   1,757,679   94,106   56,297   5,792   1,913,874 
 Total Liabilities   1,374,565   62,986   51,677   4,346   1,493,574 
 Net on Balance sheet position   383,114   31,120   4,620   1,446   420,300 
 Net off Balance sheet position   814,857   95,637   76,570   (587)  986,477 
 Overall position   1,197,971   126,757   81,190   859   1,406,777
        
 At 31 December 2012, if the Shilling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, consolidated post
 tax profit for the year would have been Shs 1.3 million (2011: Shs  265 thousand ) lower/higher, mainly as a result of US dollar loans and advances and 
 bank balances.        

   
 (ii) Interest rate risk       

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.  
 Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.  The Board of 
 Directors sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored daily.  

NOTES (continued)
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NOTES (continued)

4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)      
(d) Market risk (continued)      
 
 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
 The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks.  Included in the table are the assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised 

by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.  The Group does not bear any interest rate risk on off balance sheet items.  All figures are in 
thousands of Kenya Shillings.      
 

 (a) Group      
 At December 2012 Upto 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months Over 1 year Non interest Total
      bearing  

Assets       
Cash and balances with Central Banks  -     -     -     -     2,074,243   2,074,243 

 Government and other Securities held to maturity 466,638   299,981  916,456  4,353,336   14,121   6,050,532 
 Government and other Securities available for sale 147,689  100,000   28,000   315,122   483,366  1,074,177 
 Deposits and balances due from banking institutions 474,719   -     -     -    167,571   642,289 
 Loans and advances to customers  2,891,465  2,789,360   6,033,534  2,353,571   112,338  14,180,269 
 Other financial assets  -     -     -     -     428,805   428,805 
 Total Financial assets  3,980,511  3,189,342  6,977,990  7,022,029   3,280,444   24,450,316 
 Liabilities       

Customer deposits  5,511,512  9,109,826   6,481,161   128,719  218,923   21,450,141 
 Deposits and balances due to banking institutions 374,479   -     -     -     -     374,479 
 Borrowings  -    -     -     260,466  967   261,433 
 Other liabilities - -  -    -  -    - 

Total financial liabilities  5,885,991   9,109,826   6,481,161   389,186  605,008  22,471,171 
 Total interest repricing gap  (1,905,480) (5,920,484)  496,829  6,632,844   2,675,436  1,979,145 
 At 31 December 2011       

Total financial Assets  3,809,563  2,738,355   5,579,567   6,954,282   2,869,369   21,951,136 
 Total financial Liabilities  3,388,397  5,709,076   6,292,645  558,826  4,265,464  20,214,408 
 Total interest repricing gap  421,167  (2,970,721) (713,077)  6,395,456   (1,396,096)  1,736,728
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NOTES (continued)

4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)      
(d)  Market risk (continued) 

 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
 
 (b) Bank
  
 At December 2012 Upto 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months Over 1 year Non interest Total
      bearing  

Assets       
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Kenya  -     -     -     -     738,382   738,382 

 Government and other Securities held to maturity  -     -     649,806  3,949,403   14,121   4,613,330 
 Government and other Securities available for sale 147,689  100,000   28,000   315,122  483,366   1,074,177 
 Deposits and balances due from banking institutions 461,380   -     -     -     -     461,380 
 Amounts due from group companies  115,427   -     -     -     -     115,427 
 Loans and advances to customers 1,671,715  1,414,108   5,415,324  129,140   112,338   8,742,625 
 Other financial assets  -     -     -     -     262,606  262,606 
 Total Financial assets 2,396,211  1,514,108   6,093,130   4,393,665   1,610,813   16,007,928 
 Liabilities       

Customer deposits  3,915,573   5,878,237   3,605,081   128,719   218,923   13,746,534 
 Deposits and balances due to banking 
 institutions  374,479   -     -     -     -     374,479 
 Amounts due from group companies  182,212   -     -     -     -     182,212 
 Other financial liabilities  -     -     -     -     149,779   149,779 
 Borrowings  -     -     -     194,800   967   195,767 
 Total financial liabilities  4,472,264  5,878,237   3,605,081   323,519  369,669   14,648,770 

Total interest repricing gap  (2,076,053)  (4,364,129)  2,488,050  4,070,146   1,241,145   1,359,158 
 At December 2011 
 Total Assets 1,938,665  1,184,027   4,835,024   4,721,973  1,532,909   14,212,598 
 Total  Liabilities  3,059,484  4,704,523  4,642,875  357,524   302,918   13,067,324 
 Total interest repricing gap  (1,120,819) (3,520,496)  192,149  4,364,449   1,229,991   1,145,274 
    
 The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Group.  It 

is unusual for banks ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain terms and of different types.  An unmatched position 
potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses.      
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in
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NOTES (continued)

4 Financial Risk Management (Continued)      
(d)  Market risk (continued) 
 
 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
 assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

  The Group has various financial assets and liabilities at variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group regularly monitors 
financing options available to ensure optimum interest rates are obtained. At 31 December 2012, an increase/decrease of 75 basis points would have 
resulted in an decrease/increase in consolidated post tax profit of Shs 55 million (2011: Shs 25 million), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest charges 
on variable rate borrowings.       
  

 (e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities      
 The fair value of held-to-maturity investment securities for the Group as at 31 December 2012 is estimated at Shs 5,733 million (2011: Shs 5,722 

million) compared to their carrying value of Shs 6,050 million (2011: Shs 6,522 million). The fair values of the Bank’s other financial assets and liabilities 
approximate the respective carrying amounts, due to the generally short periods to contractual repricing or maturity dates as set out above.  Fair values 
are based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the borrowing rate that the directors expect would be available to the Group at the 
balance sheet date.      

 Fair Value estimation  
 The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method. The different levels have defined as follows:  
 •  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).    
 •  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,                                                                             
     derived from prices) (level 2).     
 •  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).   

       
    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 31 December 2012       

Assets       
Available for sale financial assets     -  1,074,177   -   

        
31 December 2011       
Assets       
Available for sale financial assets     -     590,811   -   
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4 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
(f)  Capital Management
      
 The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the balance sheets, are:  

•  to comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of Kenya;    
 •  to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other      

    stakeholders;     
 •  to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.    

 
 Capital adequacy and use of regulatory capital are monitored regularly by management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the 

Basel Committee, as implemented by the Central Bank of Kenya for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Central Bank of Kenya 
on a monthly basis.     
 

 The Central Bank of Kenya requires each bank to: (a) hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of Shs 1 Billion as at 31 December 2012; (b) maintain a 
ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets plus risk-weighted off-balance sheet assets (the ‘Basel ratio’) at or above the required minimum

 of 8%; (c) maintain core capital of not less than 8% of total deposit liabilities; and (d) maintain total capital of not less than 12% of risk-weighted assets 
plus risk-weighted off-balance sheet items.      
   

 The bank’s total regulatory capital is divided into two tiers:      
•  Tier 1 capital (core capital): share capital, share premium, plus retained earnings    
•  Tier 2 capital (supplementary capital): 25% (subject to prior approval) of revaluation reserves, subordinated debt not exceeding 50% of Tier 1 capital          
     and hybrid capital instruments.  Qualifying Tier 2 capital is limited to 100% of Tier 1 capital.    
The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of four risk weights classified according to the nature of – and reflecting an estimate of the 
credit risk associated with – each asset and counterparty. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect 
the more contingent nature of the potential losses.      
The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group at 31 December:  
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      2012  2011
      Shs’000 Shs’000
 Tier 1 capital     1,560,532  1,324,741 
 Tier 1 + Tier 2 capital     1,787,502  1,545,875 
 Risk - weighted assets        

On Balance sheet     9,387,764  7,963,021 
 Off Balance sheet     1,214,179  169,509 
 Total risk weighted assets     10,601,943  8,132,530 
 Basel ratio        

Tier 1 (CBK minimum - 8%)     14.72% 16.29%
 Tier 1 + Tier 2 (CBK minimum - 12%)     16.86% 19.01%
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5 Interest income 
        Group  
     2012  2011
     Shs’000  Shs’000
 Loans and advances                                                                                         2,435,189    1,718,903 
 Government and other securities     619,789    461,907 
 Cash and short term funds     57,634    97,312 
 Other     44,152    34,579 
     3,156,764    2,312,701 

6  Interest expense        
    2012  2011

     Shs’000  Shs’000
 Customer deposits    1,698,249    909,321 
 Deposits by banks    28,497    49,438 
 Borrowed Funds    18,482    6,368 
 Other    7,629   11,234 
      1,752,857    976,361 
       
7  Other operating income        

    2012  2011
     Shs’000  Shs’000
 Net gains on disposal of available-for-sale investment securities    84,049    8,748  
 Grant income    -   1,446  
 Gain /(loss) on disposal of assets    (155)   2,491  
 Bad debts recovered    130,826    54,030  
      214,720    66,715  
         

       
 

       

      2012  2011
      Shs’000 Shs’000
 Tier 1 capital     1,560,532  1,324,741 
 Tier 1 + Tier 2 capital     1,787,502  1,545,875 
 Risk - weighted assets        

On Balance sheet     9,387,764  7,963,021 
 Off Balance sheet     1,214,179  169,509 
 Total risk weighted assets     10,601,943  8,132,530 
 Basel ratio        

Tier 1 (CBK minimum - 8%)     14.72% 16.29%
 Tier 1 + Tier 2 (CBK minimum - 12%)     16.86% 19.01%
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NOTES (continued)

8  Operating expenses                                                 Group   
    2012 2011

     Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Employee benefits expense (Note 9)    907,267   838,478  
 Director fees (Note 32 (f))    55,661  38,159  
 Depreciation (Note 17)    85,073   63,109  
 Amortization of intangible assets (Note 19)    18,469  30,813  
 Operating lease rentals    79,866  65,779  
 Auditors’ remuneration    7,874  6,771  
 Other operating expenses    494,672  450,703  
     1,648,882  1,493,811  
       
9 Employee Benefits Expense                                                                                                                                                     

    2012 2011
     Shs’000  Shs’000
 Salaries and wages     770,711    714,556 
 Pension fund contribution     20,274    26,379 
 Other staff costs and benefits     116,282    97,543 
     907,267    838,478 
      
10  Income tax expense    2012             2011
     Shs’000  Shs’000
 Current income tax                                                                                                                      119,809    106,863 
 Deferred income tax (Note 20)    14,748    17,590 
 Under provision of deferred income tax in prior year (Note 20)     -      39,156 
     134,557    163,609 
 
 The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory income tax rate as follows:   

    2012  2011
     Shs’000  Shs’000
 Profit before income tax    601,262    474,642 
 Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable to profits in the respective countries - 30% (2011 - 30%)  180,379    142,393 

  Tax effect of:        
Income not subject to tax    (55,708)   (93,929)

 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes     9,886    75,990 
 Under provision of deferred income tax in prior year     -      39,156 

      134,557    163,609  
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NOTES (continued)

11 Earnings per share      
 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue during the year.       
    2012 2011

     Shs’000  Shs’000
 Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (Shs thousands)    384,701    272,943 
 
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)    529    528 
 
 Basic earnings per share (Shs)     727.22   516.94 
        

There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at 31 December 2012 or 2011. Diluted earnings per share are therefore the same as basic earnings 
per share.       
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12 Cash and balances with the Central Bank      
                                        Group                                                    Bank  

    2012 2011 2012 2011
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Cash in hand    1,240,381   831,558   181,590   178,954 
 Balances with the Central Banks    833,862   1,051,400   556,792   612,552 
     2,074,243   1,882,958   738,382   791,506 
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13 Government and other securities      
(a)    Held to Maturity                                     Group                                     Bank   

   2012 2011 2012 2011
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Government securities – at amortized cost   
 Maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition    397,860   810,469   -     100,000 
 - Maturing after 90 days of the date of acquisition    5,608,116   5,755,714   4,568,773   4,856,530 
 - Debt securities – at fair value (unlisted)*   44,557   -     44,557   -     

   6,050,532   6,566,183   4,613,330  4,956,530 
        
 (b) Available for sale                                      Group                                   Bank  
    2012 2011 2012 2011
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Government securities – at fair value       - 

Maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition     375,194   -    375,194   -   
 - Maturing after 90 days of the date of acquisition    438,340   310,595   438,340   310,595 
 - Debt securities – at fair value (unlisted)*    260,644   280,216   260,644   280,216
     1,074,177  590,811  1,074,177   590,811 
        

*Debt securities consist of corporate bonds.   

14 Deposits and balances due from other banks
                                        Group                                     Bank  
    2012 2011 2012 2011
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Due from local banking institutions    407,773   60,995   122,437   60,995 
 Due from foreign banking institutions    286,087   512,405   338,944   172,015 
    693,859   573,400   461,380   233,010 
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15 Loans and advances to customers       
                                      Group                                 Bank  
   2012 2011 2012 2011

    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Overdrafts    5,874,717   5,081,798   3,359,856   2,969,739 
 Commercial loans    6,440,920   4,961,476   4,743,414   3,573,341 
 Personal loans    314,370   432,886   77,523  180,161 
 Asset Finance    534,687   347,400   534,687   347,400 
 Mortgages    966,505   778,707   -     -   
 Interest receivable    418,078   646,876   324,210   551,457 
 Gross loans and advances    14,549,275   12,249,143   9,039,690   7,622,098 
 Less: Provision for impairment 
 - Individually assessed    273,694   318,518   216,165   260,999 
 - Collectively assessed     95,313   94,936   80,900   84,395
     14,180,269   11,835,689   8,742,625   7,276,704 
 Movements in provisions for impairment of loans and advances are as follows:     

NOTES (continued)
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15  Loans and advances to customers (continued) 

 Loans and advances to customers (continued)      
 (a) Group  
    Overdrafts Personal Commercial   

     Loans loans Total
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 At 1 January 2011    279,382   56,659   324,192   660,233 
 Impairment losses    44,962   13,320   123,946   182,228 
 Provision for loan impairment     262,697   17,746   140,764   421,206 
 Amounts recovered during year    (217,735)  (4,426)  (16,818)  (238,979)
 Written off as uncollectible    (284,105)  (16,238)  (128,664)  (429,007)
 At 31 December 2011    40,239   53,741   319,474   413,454 
 Impairment losses    66,725   2,033   (6,648)  62,110 
 Provision for loan impairment     124,606   5,846   35,913   166,365 
 Amounts recovered during year    (57,882)  (3,813)  (42,561)  (104,255)
 Written off as uncollectible    (77,646)  (2,908)  (26,002)  (106,557)
 At 31 December 2012    29,318   52,866   286,823   369,007 
         

(b) Bank   Overdrafts Personal Commercial   
     Loans loans Total

    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 At 1 January 2011    269,932   33,858   200,701   504,491 
 Impairment losses    (103,190)  13,321   123,799   33,930
 Provision for loan impairment     52,596   17,746   140,617   210,960 
 Amounts recovered during year    (155,786)  (4,426)  (16,818)  (177,030)
 Written off as uncollectible    (48,125)  (16,238)  (128,664)  (193,027)
 At 31 December 2011    118,617   30,941   195,836   345,394 
 Impairment losses    (7,472)  2,033   (11,289)  (16,728)
 Provision for loan impairment     28,430   5,846   31,272   65,547 
 Amounts recovered during year    (35,902)  (3,813)  (42,561)  (82,275)
 Written off as uncollectible    (7,115)  (2,908)  (21,576)  (31,600) 
 At 31 December 2012    104,030   30,066   162,970   297,065 
 
 All impaired loans have been written down to their estimated recoverable amount. The aggregate carrying amount of impaired loans at 31 December 2012 
 was Shs 320 million (2011: Shs 579 million).  The loans and advances to customers include finance lease receivables, which are analyzed as follows:   
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15  Loans and advances to customers (continued)
                                      Group                                   Bank   

   2012 2011 2012 2011
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Gross investment in finance leases:       

Not later than 1 year    80,146   80,604   49,777   44,672  
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years    361,826   382,261   349,306   62,459  
     441,972   462,865   399,083   107,131  
 Unearned future finance income    (175,644)  (94,019)  (170,665)  (23,470) 
 Net investment in finance leases    266,328   368,846   228,418   83,661  
 
 Included in the Group’s provision for impairment of loans and advances at 31 December 2012 is Shs 62 million (2011: Shs 74 million) attributable to 
 uncollectible finance lease receivables.       

 
16  Investment in Subsidiary and Associates 
 
(a)  Investment in Subsidiary (at cost)
       
 On 31 December 2012, the bank increased its shareholding in Fina Bank Rwanda Limited (the subsidiary) from 55.78% to 92.04% through a share
 exchange transaction with the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary.       

The Bank’s interest in its subsidiary, which is unlisted and has the same year end as the Bank, is as follows:     
   Country of  Company   
   incorporation   % interest held Shs’000  
At 31 December 2011    Rwanda   55.78%  164,039 

 Increase in shareholding     36.26%  706,300 
 At 31 December 2012     92.04%  870,339 
 
 (b) Investment in Assosciate
        

The Bank’s interest in its associate, which is unlisted and has the same year end as the Bank, is as follows:     
     Group  Bank 

                           (at Written Down Value)  (at Cost)  
     Shs’000 Shs’000

 At start of year      -     31,123 
 Acquisition      20,804   20,804 
 Share of loss of associate      (2,179)  -   
 At end of year      18,625  51,927
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NOTES (continued)

16  Investment in Subsidiary and Associates (continued)
 
(b)  Investment in Assosciate (continued)        

The Group’s interest in its associate, which is unlisted, is as follows:       
  Country of % interest Assets Liabilities Accumulated  
  incorporation held    losses

     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 2012       

Fina Bank (Uganda) Limited   Uganda  5.91% 2,647,064   2,184,992   548,495 
 2011
 Fina Bank (Uganda) Limited   Uganda  30%  2,885,048   2,455,786   46,949 
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17 Property and Equipment.     
 
 (a)Group                                       Buildings and Leasehold  Computer Motor Fixtures, Work-in- Total 
  freehold land Improvements Equipment Vehicles fittings and progress
      equipment
  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2011
 Opening net book amount 123,168   135,013   28,039   18,195   257,711   16,374   578,500  
 Additions  14,131   -     11,397   3,182   40,912   66,454   136,076 
 Reclassification  -     25,406   2,675   -     6,168   (35,272)  (1,023) 
 Disposals  -     -     -     220   (941)  -     (721) 
 Write off  -     -     -     -     -     (11,832)  (11,832)
 Depreciation charge  (434)  -     (9,722)  (2,661)  (50,202)  -    (63,019) 
 Currency translation difference  -     -     3,607   -     -      3,607  
 Closing net book amount 136,865  160,419   35,996   18,936   253,648   35,724   641,588  
 At 31 December 2011         

Cost or valuation  147,108   177,350   124,045   41,303   556,436   220,333 1,266,574
 Accumulated depreciation  (10,243)  (16,931)  (88,050)  (22,366)  (302,788)  (184,609) (624,986)
 Net book Amount  136,865   160,419   35,996   18,936   253,648   35,724  641,588
           

 Buildings and Leasehold  Computer Motor Fixtures, Work-in- Total 
  freehold land Improvements Equipment Vehicles fittings and progress
      equipment
  Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2012
 Opening net book amount  136,865   160,419   35,996   18,936   253,648   35,724  641,588 
 Additions  -    11,251   4,304   4,109   45,110   27,736  92,509
 Reclassification  -     26,516   -     -     12,412   (39,660)  (732)
 Disposals  -     -     -     -     (834)  -     (834)
 Write off  -     -     -     -     -     (885)  (885)
 Depreciation charge  (9,314)  (10,336)  (10,692)  (3,495)  (51,236)  -     (85,073)
 Currency translation difference  (8,119)  (10,711)  -     (230)  (4,787)  (2,634) (26,481)
 Closing net book amount  119,433  177,138   29,607   19,320   254,313   20,280   620,092
 At 31 December 2012         

Cost or valuation  143,048   198,450   128,940   48,461   602,437   235,501   1,356,837  
 Accumulated depreciation  (23,615)  (21,311)  (99,332)  (29,141)  (348,124)  (215,221)  (736,745)  

Net book Amount  119,433   177,138   29,607   19,320   254,313   20,280   620,092   
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17 Property and Equipment (continued) 
(a)  Group (continued)
 
 Buildings and freehold land were last revalued in 2008 by Mudas Property Services Limited, independent valuers. Valuations were made on the basis of  

open market value. The book values of the properties were adjusted to the revaluations and the resultant surplus net of deferred income tax was credited to 
the revaluation surplus in shareholders’ equity. If the buildings and freehold land were stated on historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:   
         
      2012   2011  
       Shs’000   Shs’000  
Cost       111,332   117,393  
Accumulated depreciation       (30,924)  (35,318)

       80,408 82,075  
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NOTES (continued)
17 Property and Equipment (continued)

(b) Bank  Computer Motor Fixtures, Work-in-     Total
    Equipment Vehicles fittings and progress
      equipment
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2011        
 Opening net book amount    20,192   1,746   179,451  17,892  219,281 
 Additions    11,397   3,182  5,812   2,206   22,598 
 Disposals    -     -     (427)  -     (427)
 Depreciation charge    (9,722)  (661)  (23,439)  -    (33,821)
 Reclassification    2,675   -     -     (3,697)  (1,022)
 Write off    -     -     -     (11,832)  (11,832)
 Closing net book amount    24,542  4,268  161,397   4,570   194,776 
 At 31 December 2011      
 Cost or valuation    79,461  8,704  329,585   4,570   422,320
 Accumulated depreciation    (54,919)  (4,436)  (168,188)  -     (227,543)
 Net book Amount    24,542   4,268  161,397   4,570  194,776   

   
    Computer Motor Fixtures, Work-in- Total 
    Equipment Vehicles fittings and progress
      equipment
    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2012       
 Opening net book amount    24,542  4,268   161,397   4,570   194,776 
 Additions    4,304  - 7,571  13,411  25,286 
 Disposals    -     -    -  -    - 

Depreciation charge    (10,692)  (1,067)  (21,358)  -     (33,117)
 Reclassification    -   -    3,684    (3,684)  -
 Write off    -     -     -     (885)  (885)
 Closing net book amount   18,154   3,201  151,293 13,411  186,059 
 At 31 December 2012        
 Cost or valuation   83,765  8,704   342,236  13,411  448,116 
 Accumulated depreciation    (65,611)  (5,503)  (190,943)  -     (262,057)
 Net book Amount    18,154  3,201  151,293  13,411   186,059 
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18  Fair values       
 
 The directors consider that there is no material difference between the fair value and carrying value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities where
  fair value details have not been presented, except as explained in note 4(e).        

 
19 Intangible assets - Software costs   
                                        Group                                    Bank  
     2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Opening net book amount     30,477   49,642   14,780   11,170 
 Additions     4,022   8,230   -     7,916 
 Disposals     -     (290)  -     (290)
 Amortization     (18,469)  (30,813)  (5,888)  (5,039)
 Reclassification from WIP     731   1,022   -     1,022
 Currency translation difference     (658)  2,686   -     -   
 At end of year     16,103   30,477   8,891   14,780 
 At 31 December         
 Cost     165,756   161,003   51,740   51,740 
 Accumulated depreciation     (149,653)  (130,526)  (42,849)  (36,960)
 Net book amount     16,103   30,477   8,891   14,780
       
20 Deferred income tax       
 
 Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted income tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%). The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:  

                                    
                                      Group                                       Bank    

    2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 At start of year     (34,465)  6,257   13,144   4,436 
 Income statement (charge) / credit (Note 10)     (14,748)  (17,590)  (1,520)  10,897 
 Currency translation differences     3,282   2,386   -     -  
 Deferred tax on movement in revaluation of available for sale securities   (2,463)  13,638   (2,463)  13,638 
 Under provision of deferred income tax in prior years    -     (39,156)  -     (15,827)
 At end of year     (48,395)  (34,465)  9,161   13,144 
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20 Deferred income tax (continued)    
          
 The deferred income tax asset and liability and deferred income tax charge/(credit) in the income statement are attributable to the following items:     

    
     01.01.2012 Charged to Charged to 31.12.2012 
 (a) Group     income equity
      statement   
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2012
 Deferred income tax assets
 Property and equipment     (23,117) (2,612)  -     (25,729) 
 Other temporary differences     (8,112)  (12,137)  -     (20,249)
 Translation differences     (10,539)  -     3,282   (7,258)
 Revaluation of available for sale securities     7,303   -     (2,463)  4,840  
 Net deferred income tax asset / (liability)     (34,465)  (14,748)  819   (48,395) 
          
 Analysed as follows:      2012 2011
       Shs’000 Shs’000
 Deferred income tax liabilities       (57,556)  (34,465)
 Deferred income tax assets       9,161   -   
 At end of year       (48,395)  (34,465) 

     01.01.2011 (Charged)/ Charged to 31.12.2011    
     credited to equity

      income    
      statement
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2011
 Deferred income tax assets
 Property and equipment     (1,383)  (21,734)  -     (23,117) 
 Other temporary differences     26,900   (35,012)  -     (8,112)
 Translation differences     (12,925)  -     2,386   (10,539) 
 Revaluation of available for sale securities     (6,335)  -     13,638  7,303  
 Net deferred income tax asset / (liability)     6,257   (56,746)  16,024   (34,465)   
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20 Deferred income tax (continued)

 The deferred income tax asset and liability and deferred income tax charge/(credit) in the income statement are attributable to the following items:    
     

 (b) Bank       01.01.2012 Charged to Charged to 31.12.2012   
     income  equity  

      statement
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2012
 Deferred income tax assets
 Property and equipment     10,021   3,594   -     13,615 
 Revaluation of available for sale securities     7,303   -     (2,463)  4,840 
 Other temporary differences     (4,180)  (5,114)  -    (9,294)
 Net deferred income tax asset / (liability)     13,144   (1,520)  (2,463)  9,161 
         
      01.01.2011 Charged to Charged to 31.12.2011   

     income  equity  
      statement
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Year ended 31 December 2011
 Deferred income tax assets
 Property and equipment     6,922   3,099   -     10,021 
 Revaluation of available for sale securities     (2,463)  -     13,638   11,175 
 Other temporary differences     (23)  (8,029)  -     (8,052)
 Net deferred income tax asset / (liability)     4,436   (4,930)  13,638   13,144 
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NOTES (continued)

21 Other assets      
                                         Group                                      Bank  
     2012 2011 2012 2011
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Items in course of collection      137,666   113,874   137,666   113,874 
 Prepayments      92,669   80,905   64,415   54,136 
 Deposit for share subscription     -     -     -     39,974 
 Derivative financial instruments     21,158   57,860   21,158   57,860 
 Other receivables     196,485   249,456   39,369   33,652 
     447,978   502,095   262,608   299,496 
 
 Derivative financial instruments at the year end relate to fair value gains on exchange derivatives consisting of currency forwards and currency swaps 

contracts.        

22 Intangible assets         
                                        Group  

       2012 2011 
       Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Goodwill on acquisitions       21,812    21,812
         
 The goodwill arose from the Bank’s acquisition of its subsidiary in Rwanda.      

 Impairment tests for goodwill       
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the Cash Generating Units (CGUs), or groups of 
CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest 
level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.   
      

 Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The 
carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is 
recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.      
   

 The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by management covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. 
The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the Fina Bank S. A. Rwanda business in which the CGUs operate.   
 Based on the above, the Bank does not consider the goodwill impaired.       
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23  Customer deposits                                     Group                                   Bank   
    2012 2011 2012 2011 

     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Current and demand deposits      6,996,252   6,901,664   3,427,591  3,131,581  

Savings accounts      1,591,134   1,785,141   780,578  1,128,225  
Time deposit accounts      12,862,755   10,518,985   9,538,365  8,135,289 

     21,450,141   19,205,790   13,746,534   12,395,095
 Current     19,766,781   16,530,803   12,063,174   9,720,107  

Non current     1,683,360   2,674,987   1,683,360   2,674,988  
     21,450,141   19,205,790   13,746,534   12,395,095

        

24 Deposits due to other banks   
                                        Group                                     Bank   

    2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Due to local banking institution     286,700   189,140   363,718   189,140 
 Due to foreign banking Institution     10,761   241,699   10,761   100,000 
      297,461   430,839   374,479   289,140  

 
25 Borrowing           

                                       Group                                   Bank   
    2012 2011 2012 2011 

     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Long term debt      54,520   58,121   -     -   
 Medium term note     194,800   194,800   194,800   194,800 
 Accrued interest  on loan and note     12,113  990   967   990
      261,433   253,911   195,767   195,790 
         
 The medium term note is a 7 year subordinated debt priced at 9.5% to support Fina Bank Kenya’s expansion program and longer term loan book. 
 The medium term note qualifies for Tier II capital.

  The long term debt is a subordinated debt qualifying for Tier II capital and issued by Fina Bank Rwanda. It has a maturity date of 1 April 2016 and is priced 
at 10.5%.         
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26 Other liabilities 
                                     Group                           Bank   
     2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Items in transit     80,562   5,343   33,956  5,343 
 Outstanding bankers cheques     26,608  27,902   26,608   27,902 
 Derivative financial intruments     2,553   -     2,553   -   
 Other payables and accrued expenses     162,254   290,622   86,661  95,382   

    271,977   323,867   149,778  128,627  

 Derivative financial instruments at the year end relate to fair value losses on exchange derivatives consisting of currency forwards and currency swaps 
contracts. 

27 Share Capital
      Number of   Ordinary   Share     

     shares shares premium Total 
      Shs’000   Shs’000   Shs’000 
 At 1 January 2011     528,308   528,308   154,922   683,230 
 At 31 December 2011     528,308   528,308   154,922   683,230 
 Issue of shares     202,941   202,941   482,350   685,291 
 At 31 December 2012     731,249   731,249   637,272   1,368,521 
         
 The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 900,000 with a par value of Shs 1,000 per share; 731,249 of this has been issued and fully paid.  
  On 31 December 2012,Fina Bank Kenya issued 202,941 ordinary shares at a value of Shs 1,000 each to the non-controlling interests in Fina Bank Rwanda
 Limited (the subsidiary) in exchange for the non-controlling interests’ shareholding in Fina Bank Rwanda Limited and accordingly, increasing its 
 shareholding in the subsidiary from 55.78% to 92.04%

28 Statutory Reserve          
                                      Group                                     Bank   

     2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 At 1 January     58,451   30,162   26,335   4,787  

Transfer from/ (to) retained earnings     17,546   28,289   5,835   21,548  
Share swap adjustment     (25,369)  -     -     -    

 At 31 December     50,628   58,451   32,170 26,335  
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29 Other Reserves                                                           Group                                                      Bank    
   Fair value Revaluation Currency Total Fair value

     of available reserves on translation  of available   
    for sale assets land and  reserve   for sale assets   
    buildings

    Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
 Balance at 1 January 2011    14,781   20,753   600   36,134  14,781 
 Revaluation – available for sale assets                    (39,123)  -     -                 (39,123)                 (39,123) 
 Deferred income tax on revaluation     13,638   -                               -                 13,638     13,638
 Currency translation differences    -     857   17,350   18,207     -  
 Balance at 31 December 2011                    (10,704)  21,610   17,950   28,856   (10,704) 
 
 Revaluation – available for sale assets    1,874   -      1,874      1,874
 Deferred income tax on revaluation                       (2,463)  -     -         (2,463)                     (2,463) 
 Excess depreciation adjustment through retained earnings   -                   (2,330)  -     (2,330) -    

Share swap adjustments    -                   (9,825)  -     (9,825)
 Currency translation differences    -     (1,181)                   (16,774)  (17,954)  -    
 Balance at 31 December 2012                    (11,293)  8,275                        1,176   (1,842)  (11,293) 
          
30.  Off-balance sheet financial instruments, contingent liabilities and commitments 
  
     
    
     
                                        Group                                  Bank    

    2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Acceptances and letters of credit     1,253,768   416,525   1,054,693   324,296  
 Guarantees and performance bonds      1,355,123   913,685   892,168   696,623  
     2,608,891   1,330,210   1,946,861   1,020,919  
          

NOTES (continued)

28 Statutory Reserve (continued)

 The regulatory reserve represents an appropriation from retained earnings to comply with the Central Bank of Kenya’s Prudential Regulations. The 
balance in the reserve represents the excess of impairment provisions determined in accordance with the Prudential Regulations over the impairment 
provisions recognized in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy. The reserve is non-distributable.

 In common with other banks, the Group conducts business involving acceptances, letters of credit, guarantees, performance bonds and indemnities.  The 
majority of these facilities are offset by corresponding obligations of third parties.  In addition, there are other off-balance sheet financial instruments 
including forward contracts for the purchase and sale of foreign currencies, the nominal amounts for which are not reflected in the balance sheet. 
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30.  Off-balance sheet financial instruments, contingent liabilities and commitments (continued)

 Nature of contingent liabilities         
An acceptance is an undertaking by a bank to pay a bill of exchange drawn on a customer.  The Group expects most acceptances to be presented, 

 and reimbursement by the customer is normally immediate.       
 
 Operating lease commitments          

                                        Group                                     Bank   
     2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000  
 Not later than one year     36,152   47,576   36,152   47,576  
 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years     112,780   110,788   112,780  110,788  
 Later than 5 years      -     18,188   -     18,188  
      148,932   176,552   148,932  176,552  
           

Other Commitments          
  

                                           Group                                      Bank   
     2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000   

Undrawn formal stand-by facilities,
  credit lines and other commitments to lend      3,403,721   2,535,118   1,795,978   646,944  
 Foreign exchange forward contracts      336,871   178,902   336,871   178,902 
     3,740,592   2,714,020   2,132,849   825,846  
           

Nature of contingent liabilities          
Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions.  Such commitments are normally made for a fixed 

 period. The bank may withdraw from its contractual obligation for the undrawn portion of agreed overdraft limits by giving reasonable notice to the 
 customer.          

  
 Foreign exchange forward contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specified quantity of foreign currency, usually on a specified future date at an agreed
 rate.          
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NOTES (continued)

31 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the cash flow statement      
                                  
                                                                        Group

       2012 2011 
       Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Cash and Balances with Central Banks (Note 12)      2,074,243   1,882,958  
 Less: Cash reserve ratio      (1,076,162) (899,837) 
 Government Securities maturing within 90 days of the date of acquisition (Note 13)     773,054   810,469  
 Deposits and balances due from other banks (Note 14)      693,859   573,400  
 Deposits due to other banks (Note 24)      (297,461)  (430,839) 
 Effect of exchange rate      (45,866)  (51,347) 
       2,121,667   1,884,804 
 

140
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 days maturity from the date of acquisition 

including: cash and balances with central banks, Treasury bills and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other banks. Cash and cash equivalents 
exclude the cash reserve requirement held with the Central Banks.      
      

 Banks are required to maintain a prescribed minimum cash balance with the Central Bank of Kenya that is not available to finance the bank’s day-to-day 
activities.  The amount is determined as 5.25% (2011: 5.25%) of the average outstanding customer deposits over a cash reserve cycle period of one 
month.        
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32 Related party transactions       
  Parties are considered related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over that party’s financial or operational
 decisions. In the normal course of business, current accounts are operated and placements made between the group companies at interest rates in line
 with market.  The relevant balances at the end of the year and income/ expense thereon are shown below:      

    
                                       Group                                   Bank    

    2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000  
 (a) Amounts due from:         

Group Companies     38,409   56,995   115,427   9,112  
 Interst income earned     2,546   14,159   346   512  
 
                                       Group                                   Bank
     2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 (b) Amounts due to:          

Group Companies    129,355   58,673   182,212   58,673  
 Interst income earned     507  10,344   507   10,344  
           

Advances to customers at 31 December 2012 include loans to directors, loans to companies controlled by directors or their families, and loans to 
 employees as follows:         

 
 (c) Loans to directors          

                                Group                             Bank    
    2012 2011 2012 2011 

     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 At start of year     82,853   100,322   68,119   84,674  
 Net repayments     (67,509)  (23,051)  (65,338) (22,137) 
 Interest charged     5,333   5,582   5,333   5,582  
 At end of year.     20,677   82,853   8,114   68,119  
 Interest income earned     5,333   5,582   5,333  5,582  
 
 At 31 December 2012, advances to companies controlled by directors or their families amounted to Shs 8 million (2011: Shs 68 million).   
 At 31 December 2012 advances to employees amounted to Shs 59 million (2011: Shs 65 million).     
 All the above loans, with the exception of staff loans, were given on commercial terms and at market rates.      
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32 Related party transactions (continued)         
   

(d)  Deposits by directors
                                          Group                                         Bank    

    2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 At start of year     37,901   91,637   32,999   87,279  
 Net movement      1,358   (56,402)  1,134  (56,947) 
 Interest credited    1,170   2,666   1,170   2,666  
 At end of the year     40,430   37,901   35,303   32,998  
 Interest expense incurred     1,170   2,666   1,170   2,666  
         
(e)  Key management compensation         

 
                                            Group                                       Bank    

    2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Salaries and other short-term employment benefits    137,936   124,843   53,278   37,105  
         
(f)   Directors remuneration                                      Group                                       Bank    

    2012 2011 2012 2011 
     Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 
 Fees for services as a director      55,661   38,159   30,945   19,321  
 Other emoluments (included in key management compensation above)   63,070   54,637   36,945   29,816  
     118,731   92,796   67,890  49,137
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